

LEAD DRIVE FREE

A manifesto for inclusive innovation

Edward Wilson-Smythe (they/them)

























Contents

Executive Summary	
The Innovation Paradox	5
1. Four Centuries of Growth and Inequality	5
2. What's Past is Prologue to the Information Age?	6
3. Concentration	7
4. Coercion	7
5. Conformation	
6. Resolving the Innovation Paradox	9
Lead to Create an Inclusive and Equitable Technology Community	10
1. Insist on Representation at All Levels	10
2. Make STEM Accessible and Attractive to all Students	
3. Proactively Address Bias During Cost Cutting and Layoffs	
Drive Out Algorithmic Bias	
1. Do Not Adopt Algorithms You Do Not Understand	
2. Create Algorithms Based on Unbiased Data and Patterns	
3. Be Mindful of Social Impacts	19
Free People to Realize their Full Potential	
1. Define Digital Jobs that Enhance the Human Element	21
2. Prepare Workers for Future Roles	
3. Create A Mobile and Empowered Workforce	
A Manifesto for Inclusive Innovation	
About the Author	
Acknowledgements	29
About TechPACT	30
Sources	

Executive Summary

Technology innovation was supposed to usher in the next era of human progress, leading to a world without want and inequality. The unfortunate reality is that in the middle of the third decade of the Information Age, we are more unequal than ever, part of a community that is persistently unrepresentative of the societies we live in, increasingly beholden to biased algorithms that disenfranchise and victimize with no accountability, and confronting automation that threatens to remove a large portion of humanity from economic cycles altogether. The good news is that despite these seemingly insurmountable challenges, our ability to influence the course of innovation has never been greater.

This research note addresses three priorities that technology leaders can focus on to address these challenges. By:

- leading to create a truly inclusive and equitable technology community,
- driving out algorithmic bias so that innovation serves all people,
- and freeing people to realize their full potential,

we may finally be able to restore the promise of innovation to its rightful beneficiaries – the people.

The practical guidance in this research note enables us to purposefully guide innovation for the common good; leading to a community that drives equality, security and dignity for people as much as it creates economic value.

The Innovation Paradox

1. Four Centuries of Growth and Inequality

Before we jump into the deep end of the inequality in our technology community, we need to understand the nature of innovation and its impact on both growth and inequality.

The trajectory of technological and economic innovation over the last four hundred years has seen unprecedented growth, delivered most of the world from the specter of starvation, extended the duration and quality of human life, and created opportunities that did not exist before¹. These successive waves of innovation have also led to unspeakable suffering and exploitation, almost as a necessary corollary to the opportunities created².

The Agricultural Age represented the first time in history when sustained growth in food supply, doubling from 1600-1900^{3,4}, was able to feed the population of Europe and the colonizers of the new world. This age also further enriched the landed gentry as rentiers and perpetuated the class system in Europe⁵, relied on enslavement⁶ and indentured servitude⁷ which disrupted family and community structures in Africa and Asia and caused suffering for indentured and enslaved people and their descendants, and dispossessed and impoverished Indigenous people in the colonized new world^{8,9}.

The Industrial Age created unprecedented population, productivity and economic growth from the 1870s¹⁰, especially in the post-WWII era of relative peace. This also ushered in a new business model based on wealth creation through child labor, unsafe workplaces, urban slums and environmental degradation^{11,12} whose impacts have persisted to this day¹³. This age disrupted the traditional intergenerational family in Europe¹⁴, imposed exploitative trade models¹⁵ to extract wealth from colonies¹⁶, and ultimately abandoned workers to unemployment and poverty in search of new ways to accumulate wealth¹⁷.

The Financial and Trade Age that took hold in 1980 has led to the greatest and widest creation of wealth globally¹⁸ but has also created a definitive schism between money and the structural foundations of the economy^{19,20}. This has led to levels of inequality not seen since before the Great Depression²¹, driven by:

- a) Financial engineering and financialization^{22,23};
- b) Focus on short-term financial²⁴ and share valuation results²⁵;
- c) Favorably stacked macroeconomic²⁶, monetary²⁷, tax²⁸ and credit²⁹ policies; and
- d) Growth of tax havens³⁰.

As a result, we are more unequal that at any time in modern history³¹, with workers close to home living increasingly perilous lives³² and those in far-off lands being subject to modern-day mercantilism³³.

The root cause of this dichotomy between growth and equity is that innovation is not just an amoral driver of technical and economic breakthroughs. Each wave of innovation has been defined and shaped by the control and monetization of a singular new type of productive capital³⁴ that is unique to the social and economic structures of that wave: land during the Agricultural Age; machine capital during the Industrial Age; intangible intellectual property during the Financial and Trade Age.

2. What's Past is Prologue to the Information Age?

The rise of data, information and analytics over the last three decades as the apex economic resource of the Information Age has merely replaced one type of productive capital with another, without the structural changes required to break the cycle of inequality that has been characteristic of each previous wave of innovation. As a result, the issues endemic to innovation through history have only been amplified and accelerated in the Information Age.

The pace and direction of our socioeconomic evolution over the last quarter century has been founded on the singular force of technology innovation. The hyperaccelerated convergence of increased computing power, reduced cost and broader access has seen technology move from the narrow confines of the largest governments and corporations, to become an integral part of all aspects of individual interactions, economic organization and social structures.

This rapid growth in the role of information in our societies and economies has led to greater prosperity overall, but also to significant increases in economic and social inequality³⁵. The last four decades have seen real wages of the bottom 90% of Americans by income grow by 0.5% a year, less than a quarter of the rate for the top 1%³⁶. Years of this stagnation have led to even sharper disparity in wealth. The top 1% of Americans by wealth hold 15 times more wealth than the bottom 50% (in other words, they are 750 times wealthier)³⁷. This pattern is repeated globally, from the wealthy economies of the OECD³⁸ to major economies³⁹ such as China, India, Brazil and Mexico. We live in a time where economic inequality has never been greater, and opportunities for progress for the vast majority of people have never been smaller.

The Information Age has perpetuated the patterns of previous waves of innovation because the three characteristics of our relationship with economic resources have remained unchanged: <u>Concentration</u> of ownership of and control over the resource in a select few; <u>Coercion</u> to make others acquiesce to or participate in inequitable systems; and <u>Conformation</u> of marginalized people and societies to unfairness and inequality as the norm.

3. Concentration

In each previous wave of innovation, concentration of economic resources was overt and easy to identify and measure. Land ownership was concentrated in nobility, aristocracy and landed gentry⁴⁰, and the ownership of machine capital and intellectual property in large corporations and wealthy individual and institutional investors⁴¹.

In the Information Age, while the apex economic resource – data, information and analytics – is less tangible, ownership and control are similarly concentrated by three factors:

- a) Continued overrepresentation of historically privileged sections of society in the technology community, which lags other sectors of the economy in representation from other groups⁴². This is the case even when compared to other STEM disciplines⁴³, especially at senior levels⁴⁴ and for emerging and growing roles⁴⁵ that are disproportionately higher paid and in more demand⁴⁶;
- b) Even before entering post-secondary education and the workplace, there is a higher level of attrition from STEM disciplines among women⁴⁷, racial minorities⁴⁸, and LGBTQ+⁴⁹ students, which continues into STEM programs in post-secondary institutions⁵⁰;
- c) Perversely, the same groups of people who face high barriers to entry and progress in the technology community are disproportionately impacted during cost cutting and layoffs⁵¹ that are part of almost decennial boom-and-bust cycles, leading to further marginalization.

4. Coercion

Economic growth over the last 400 years was enabled by both direct coercion by the state (e.g., the colonization of Asia and the Americas; the scramble for Africa; the expulsion of Indigenous people from their lands in the new world; and unequal terms of mercantile trade forced on colonized people⁵²) and actions of private enterprises indirectly backed by state power⁵³ (e.g., the British East India, Hudson Bay, Royal African and Dutch East India Companies). More recently, coercive power has been deployed to conduct disaster capitalism⁵⁴ through military and economic intervention that promotes industrial economic hegemony over environmental interests⁵⁵, Indigenous rights⁵⁶ and even sovereign elected governments^{57,58}.

In the Information Age, the forces that control economic resources achieve the same if not higher levels of coercion without reliance on overt force. Unlike previous waves of innovation, coercion in the Information Age is built into the design of information-powered social⁵⁹ and economic⁶⁰ systems. This control makes the corporate entities that control information almost sovereign in their own right⁶¹, independent of and even despite the efforts of governments or people⁶². This new model of self-perpetuating coercion is driven by three factors:

- a) The ready availability of artificial intelligence ("AI"), with steep increases in the size of AI computer chips; steep increases in the scale of AI systems; and improvements by orders of magnitude in reducing power requirements to run AI chips and increasing the effectiveness of AI systems⁶³;
- b) The proliferation of analytics and AI in the processes and interactions⁶⁴ of people, communities, corporations and governments, leading to increasing dependence on algorithms for automated and even subconscious decisions⁶⁵ that impact how individuals interact with each other⁶⁶, with companies⁶⁷ and with governments⁶⁸;
- c) Biases in the design of algorithms⁶⁹ that drive automated decisions with disproportionately negative impacts on the same people who are marginalized or underrepresented in the technology community poor people⁷⁰, people with less than university education⁷¹, women⁷², racial minorities⁷³, and LGBTQ+ people⁷⁴.

5. Conformation

Over the last 400 years, people have at times taken up arms against inequitable systems, such as during the French, Russian and Cuban revolutions against domestic elites, or the American, Haitian, Irish, Indian, Vietnamese and Angolan conflicts with colonizing powers. However, the reality for the most part has been one of people who do not benefit from innovation conforming with prevailing socioeconomic structures to serve the needs of the owners and controllers of economic resources⁷⁵. While the fear of coercion by state and quasi-state forces have been major drivers, people have also had limited ability to challenge systemic inequity due to poverty, lack of education, limited pathways for upward mobility and limited ability to organize⁷⁶.

The economic events of the last four decades have exacerbated historical drivers of conformation⁷⁷. Technology workers, as much as we may hate to admit it, have more in common with other exploited and marginalized people⁷⁸ than with the innovators, investors and executives that are the public face of our industry.

- a) While automation has been a key driver of every wave of innovation, it has matured in the Information Age to jeopardize even complex and specialized technology jobs⁷⁹. This development has the potential to reverse the job and income growth associated with the technology community⁸⁰, and introduces a new source of uncertainty that encourages conformance.
- b) Technology workers struggle with higher debt due to the higher cost of STEM degrees⁸¹ and jobs being concentrated in more expensive cities⁸². The two generations most represented in the industry Generation X and Millennials have amassed the greatest aggregate and per capita private debt in history⁸³, with the average American Millennial having a net worth of only \$8,000⁸⁴.
- c) We continue to be dependent on our employers for critical parts of our lives that are based more on a relationship with governments in other developed countries.

Employer-centric heath care⁸⁵ and immigration⁸⁶ relationships create significant barriers to mobility and risk-taking among American workers.

These forces conspire to create conditions where technology workers are already part of the next wave of exploited and marginalized people, a trend that is accelerating and has gained critical mass in the post-COVID era of imbalanced recovery and inequitable growth.

6. Resolving the Innovation Paradox

Despite the promise of innovation to drive prosperity and equality in equal measure, the unfortunate reality is that in the middle of the third decade of the Information Age, we are more unequal than ever, part of a community that is persistently unrepresentative of the societies we live in, increasingly beholden to biased algorithms that disenfranchise and victimize with no accountability, and confronting automation that threatens to remove a large portion of humanity from economic cycles altogether.

The good news is that despite these seemingly insurmountable challenges, our ability to influence the course of innovation has never been greater. In the Information Age, with the most-educated workforce in history⁸⁷, much higher earnings in technology than in other industries⁸⁸ and low barriers to share information⁸⁹ and organize⁹⁰, we may finally have the conditions to bend the arc of innovation towards social justice.

We as technology leaders must define our priorities based on three imperatives that can help us purposefully guide innovation for the common good, leading to a community that drives equality, security and dignity for people as much as it creates economic value:

- 1. Lead to create an inclusive and equitable technology community;
- 2. **Drive** out algorithmic bias so that innovation serves all people; and
- 3. **Free** people to realize their full potential.

Lead to Create an Inclusive and Equitable Technology Community

Creating an inclusive and equitable technology community is usually conflated with achieving higher diversity in terms of greater representation of people. However, this vision cannot be achieved through a simplistic view of diversity as a number and must transform the industry to fully empower all people as equal members, at all stages of their engagement with the industry and its opportunities.

1. Insist on Representation at All Levels

In our TechPACT Research Note – Impact Beyond the Diversity Headlines⁹¹ – we identified four structural barriers to increased representation at all stages of diversity, equity, inclusion and belonging: 1) Biased Hiring Processes Inhibiting Diversity; 2) Unfair Opportunities and Recognition Inhibiting Equity; 3) Exclusionary Norms and Rituals Inhibiting Inclusion; and 4) Psychologically Unsafe Work Inhibiting Belonging.

We also provided a call to action consisting of twelve steps to drive tangible change as companies travel the path from marginalization and exclusion to belonging.

1.1. Hire based on Real Merit, not Relationships or Reputation, by:

a) Stopping familiarity hires, looking beyond immediate networks and traditional "top" schools, and replacing profile-based recruitment with a focus on skills and demonstrated performance;

b) Anonymizing resumes to reveal only relevant qualifications and achievements, to address hiring bias based on names, gender, educational pedigree, race, ethnicity and even ZIP codes; and

c) Ensuring interviewers represent a diverse panel representing a broad range of function, level, and representation.

1.2. Create Equity through Objectivity and Empowerment, by:

a) Creating unbiased performance metrics that focus on tangible and measurable metrics and deprioritize or eliminate behavioral and attitudinal attributes associated with specific cultures and identities;

b) Broadening evaluation inputs to peers, direct reports, internal stakeholders and external customers to provide a more rounded and less biased view into individual performance; and

c) Driving equitable opportunities for all employees based on objective criteria for leadership roles or stretch assignments, encouraging people to address self-doubt, and creating a culture that encourages risk taking and experimentation.

1.3. Purposefully Create an Inclusive Workplace, by:

a) Designing workplaces, work guidelines and even social events to at the minimum have no negative impacts, and ideally drive similar levels of engagement and positive impact for all workers;

b) Encouraging storytelling by people who do not fit historical demographic or cultural norms, to normalize other life experiences and signal to marginalized people that they too are part of the organization; and

c) Creating a culture of mutual respect, starting with something as simple as making sincere efforts to pronounce everyone's name properly.

1.4. Make Psychological Safety a Priority, by:

a) Stopping the normalization sociopathy by refusing to hire and promote people with well-known histories of bullying and harassment, and making the protection of workplaces from habitual abusers a priority;

b) Ending the cult of overwork through a mix of consciously dismantling the "work hard play hard" culture, providing flexible work hours and vacation policies, and normalizing the ability to "clock off" early or "clock in" late when possible; and

c) Reinforcing a culture of trust by eliminating disparate treatment of women and racial minorities in receiving credit for successes, having access to the resources required to succeed in visible or critical roles, and being rewarded equitably for additional responsibility and achievements.

2. Make STEM Accessible and Attractive to all Students

While addressing hiring and workplace biases, technology leaders also need to understand that bias impacting representation in STEM disciplines is evident as early as elementary school for women⁹² and racial minorities⁹³, and barriers persist through high school post-secondary programs for students who are women, belong to racial minorities, and/or have LGBTQ+ identities⁹⁴.

The root causes of these biases and barriers are both structural and cultural, taking many forms:

- a) Race-, gender- and class-driven assessment of student performance, potential and discipline⁹⁵;
- b) Biased grading that unfairly gives lower grades to Black and Hispanic students⁹⁶;
- c) Education and career guidance that reinforces stereotypes⁹⁷;
- d) The practice of streaming in high schools that codifies gender, race and socioeconomic disparities⁹⁸;
- e) Lack of relevant role models⁹⁹;
- f) Higher cost of STEM education¹⁰⁰; and

g) A hostile culture¹⁰¹ where people feel marginalized by fellow students¹⁰² and even bullied by instructors¹⁰³.

While addressing these issues will require broader changes, there are specific steps we as technology leaders can take to make STEM accessible and attractive to all students:

2.1. Be Visible and Relatable Role Models.

Social alienation driven by a lack of belonging and relatable mentors is a key reason women and Black, Hispanic and LGBTQ+ people choose not to pursue STEM education or technology careers¹⁰⁴. However, merely presenting ourselves as successful leaders who belong to one or more of these groups is not enough. Role models, to be effective, need to be both aspirational and relevant¹⁰⁵.

A major challenge is that people from marginalized or underrepresented groups tend to reduce their association with those identities as they start progressing professionally, financially and socially¹⁰⁶. We need to make a conscious decision to be more open about our own backgrounds, vulnerable about the challenges we still face, and transparent about practical steps we took and are still taking to overcome them. We also need to develop longer-term mentorship relationships¹⁰⁷ with people as a key part of our strategy to create a large, effective and engaged pool and pipeline of technology talent.

2.2. Give Back to Make Education More Affordable.

The cost of post-secondary education is one of the biggest barriers to equitable outcomes in the United States¹⁰⁸, and STEM programs are significantly more expensive than those in the Humanities or Social Sciences¹⁰⁹. This higher cost has a direct impact on how accessible formal STEM education is, especially for Black, Hispanic and working-class Americans¹¹⁰.

There are steps we can take as technology leaders to address the prohibitive cost of STEM education. We need to stop unpaid internships and pay a fair market value for the work, to prevent internships being something only already-privileged students can afford¹¹¹. We can also fund scholarships for STEM students from marginalized and underrepresented backgrounds. These will only lower the cost of education but also increase our profile in post-secondary institutions as a preferred employer¹¹². Having access to scholarships and paid internships makes a significant difference in the enrollment and graduation rates of students from underprivileged backgrounds¹¹³, and a small investment from our firms can make a significant difference.

2.3. Create Alternative Employment and Career Pathways.

The traditional approach of insisting on undergraduate or advanced degrees in Computer Science, Engineering or related disciplines creates an immediate barrier for people without this education. The reality is that over half of computer programmers and over two-thirds of user support professionals do not have a four-year degree¹¹⁴, and many technology jobs do not need a degree to perform the roles¹¹⁵.

We can drive meaningful change in representation and equity by being open to hiring people with technical education from colleges, certifications from technical training programs, and even high school graduates with demonstrated competence in technology. The shift from education-based to skills-based hiring is gaining momentum in technology jobs¹¹⁶, with research showing that intellectual curiosity¹¹⁷ and commitment¹¹⁸ are better predictors of both individual and team performance. As a result, over half of technology organizations list problem solving, collaboration, customer service, and communication as the most valued skills¹¹⁹.

Accenture and IBM are leading on this front¹²⁰, with only a quarter to a third of even a specialized role such as software quality assurance requiring a university degree.

2.4. Get Involved to Make Systemic Change.

The challenges faced by students can be addressed only through coordination across governments, institutions and civic society organizations. As business and technology leaders, we need to channel our social and economic privilege into greater engagement with and advocacy for foundational changes in these institutions.

Becoming members of advisory boards of post-secondary programs or part of elected public school boards gives us a voice in addressing discriminatory funding for public schools¹²¹ and shaping policymaking and curricula, especially in a time when institutions are under greater scrutiny from all sides for failures in educational achievement¹²² and issues related to equity^{123,124,125}. Finally, as significant and sought-after recruiters from STEM programs in post-secondary institutions¹²⁶, we can insist on demonstrated commitment to equity, a culture of inclusiveness, support for marginalized or underrepresented people, and tangible improvements in representation and equity.

3. Proactively Address Bias During Cost Cutting and Layoffs

The latest wave of technology layoffs, which has already impacted at least 400,000 technology workers globally¹²⁷ as of the end of August, 2023, is perhaps the first one to be studied from an equity perspective¹²⁸. The impacts are distressing but not surprising. The same groups who are last in line to pursue STEM education or be hired into technology jobs are first in line on the way out¹²⁹, even as companies claim the processes are fair and neutral¹³⁰ and profess their commitment to diversity. This irony jeopardizes a generation of progress towards representation and equity¹³¹.

Behind this "full lifecycle" marginalization are layers of overt and subconscious bias. Privileged and overrepresented groups benefit from:

a) Decisions being made on subjective behavioral and attitudinal attributes¹³²;

- b) Being perceived as more valuable in adversity than women¹³³ or racial minorities¹³⁴; and
- c) Having stronger social networks at work, especially with leaders¹³⁵.

While white male managers are reluctant to negatively impact others from similar backgrounds¹³⁶, female, Black, Hispanic and Asian managers are punished if seen as trying to help "their own kind"¹³⁷. Absurdly, we continue to see men as the primary breadwinner¹³⁸ and women's work being less valuable¹³⁹ and more disposable¹⁴⁰.

We need to address this level of deeply embedded bias directly through:

3.1. Questioning and Revisiting Decisions that Drive Disparate Impacts.

The first step is often the simplest. The legal test for discrimination is one of disparate impact and not malicious intent or discriminatory process. First codified in Griggs v Duke Power Company in 1971¹⁴¹ and then in Title VII of the Civil Rights Act since 1991¹⁴², disparate impact explicitly covers adverse employment actions such as failing to hire, choosing to fire, or discriminating at work.

In our personnel decisions, there are unintentional, adverse effects that disparately impact people who belong to specific groups, even if our policies are neutral and there is no intent to discriminate. In other words, we may be unintentionally violating the law. Depending on our role and level, when faced with decisions that disproportionately impact marginalized or underrepresented groups, our response can range from outright rejection of recommendations to requesting changes in the decision-making process to simply pointing out the equity impacts and legal concerns. Silence should never be not an option.

3.2. Making Decisions Based on Broader Inputs across the Organization.

The continued reliance on immediate supervisors and managers to determine who are impacted by layoffs¹⁴³ makes the process subject to the biases of a small group of people¹⁴⁴ who are disproportionately white cisgender heterosexual males.

A better approach that balances the benefits of managerial empowerment with the need to address small group bias is having a larger group of cross-functional leaders, including other business functions, legal counsel, human resources and diversity & inclusion, involved in analysis and decision making. Managers can remain accountable for executing the decisions, but the decision itself needs to be based on a broader and more diverse set of inputs.

3.3. Giving Marginalized and Underrepresented Groups a Bigger Voice.

As part of creating ownership of and accountability for change, organizations recognize that empowering workers to make and execute key decisions is critical for success¹⁴⁵. Whether these are leadership roles in driving transformation or employees

identified as change leaders, members of marginalized or underrepresented groups need to have representation in these visible roles.

To prevent these too becoming glass cliff assignments that are disproportionately handed out to female, Black, Hispanic, Asian and LGBTQ+ employees¹⁴⁶, we must provide all people involved in the process:

- a) Autonomy to make decisions;
- b) Resources to ensure successful execution; and
- c) Tangible recognition and reward in terms of promotions, higher compensation and accelerated career paths.

Drive Out Algorithmic Bias

Artificial intelligence (AI) is prevalent in both the public consciousness through innovations such as social media and self-driving vehicles, and corporate decision making through systems and algorithms that impact every industry and business value chain.

As the role of AI in our society and economy expands, we are increasingly aware of significant bias in AI data and algorithms leading to situations such as:

- a) Facial recognition software not recognizing and even misidentifying dark-skinned people¹⁴⁷;
- b) Image recognition algorithms mislabeling Black men as gorillas¹⁴⁸;
- c) Wrongly flagging Black defendants as high risk to reoffend at twice the rate of white defendants¹⁴⁹;
- d) Misidentifying Black, Hispanic and Asian people as wanted criminals¹⁵⁰;
- c) Excluding transgender, nonbinary and gender-nonconforming people from social networks¹⁵¹;
- f) Wrongly defining majority-minority neighborhoods as crime hotspots¹⁵²; and
- g) Recommending excessive law enforcement deployment and force to address minor crimes involving Black or Hispanic people¹⁵³.

The root cause of these issues is a combination of: focus on speed to market that often overlooks quality control and testing for negative consequences¹⁵⁴; lack of representativeness among leaders and developers leading to myopia in terms of issues faced by other people¹⁵⁵; framing of AI models with leading questions with pre-determined answers based on the biases of leaders and developers¹⁵⁶; and skewed test data used to train systems based on a small and unrepresentative sample of society¹⁵⁷.

As technology leaders who are both significant creators and consumers of AI, we have a unique ability to address these issues. We must formalize and institutionalize ethical AI frameworks that engender trust among the people and communities we serve¹⁵⁸, through a few principles:

1. Do Not Adopt Algorithms You Do Not Understand

More than three out of four companies say that it is important that results obtained from AI are "fair, safe, and reliable", and even more place emphasis on understanding how AI works¹⁵⁹. However, a considerable number, more than two in five, have limited knowledge of how AI will work in their business context¹⁶⁰. As a result, we unknowingly inherit the biases inherent in systems, and amplify their impact through use in enterprise-scale decisions.

Despite its allure, we must treat analytics and AI as we have every previous generation of innovative technology. We need to stop accepting systems based on the black box concept of trusting the system to work, and instead demand transparency and accountability for data, processes, logic, analyses, recommendations and actions. We must make understanding analytics and AI a priority, from both a technical and business impact perspective, with a focus on - how data are identified, aggregated and orchestrated with other data sets; how these data are analyzed to identify patterns; and how these patterns are translated into insights and recommended actions.

There are three types of human bias that impact how systems are designed with skewed data and biased algorithms: Entirety Bias, the belief that our specific disciplines and frameworks address all the relevant sources required to analyze data and forecast events; Familiarity Bias, the tendency to seek data and insights from sources that reflect values, beliefs and actions similar to us; and Universality Bias, the belief that all actors have utility functions comprised of values, desired outcomes and priorities similar to us¹⁶¹.

Even without asking for confidential information such as access to code, we can develop frameworks addressing key elements of Al¹⁶² to conduct due diligence on the core elements of Al to identify sources of bias, determine where bias is manifested, and work to eliminate bias¹⁶³.

2. Create Algorithms Based on Unbiased Data and Patterns

In our role as creators of AI systems, we can address these biases at the source rather than during adoption. This will require a significant focus on building considerations of equity and adverse impacts directly into the design of solutions, through:

2.1. Purposefully Leveraging Representative and Relevant Data.

The approach of relying on readily available and familiar data leads to biases based on - data from an unrepresentative and small segment of society that is overrepresented¹⁶⁴ in corporate leadership, financial transactions, research studies and media; historical data not being a reliable representative of changing norms and conditions¹⁶⁵; and biased correlations between data sets leading to biased insights and recommendations¹⁶⁶.

A recent example of data bias with significant public policy and public health implications was the fact that the initial human trials of COVID-19 vaccines had a rate of Black participation which was more than 20% lower than their share of the American population¹⁶⁷, even while the virus infected Black people at disproportionately higher rates¹⁶⁸ and with disproportionately more severe impacts¹⁶⁹.

We need to make defining and creating representative and relevant data a priority when we design and implement systems, and continue to improve existing systems with updated data that are less biased. To achieve this objective, we need to shift our focus from the subset of people and patterns that are represented today, proactively include people from groups that may be adversely impacted by any system, and incorporate data that reflect the experiences of these broader groups of people¹⁷⁰. This focus will help us identify gaps in current data and provide us with direction on where to augment these data with more relevant and current sources.

2.2. Testing Affirmatively for Adverse Impacts.

Here is where we can put the thinking back into the often mentioned but seldom practiced design thinking process! Based on the reality that we design and test algorithms on partial and skewed data and train systems based on skewed historical correlations, it is impossible to look at test results and identify the potential for or incidence of adverse impacts¹⁷¹ on populations that are significantly underrepresented or not represented in the data. Absence of evidence does not mean evidence of absence.

We need to go beyond test results and predefined business use cases, and affirmatively create real-life scenarios that reveal the potential for adverse impacts. The approach to designing these scenarios involves four steps:

- a) Understand the specific use case being demonstrated;
- b) Identify how underrepresented, marginalized or vulnerable groups may have different experiences compared to the privileged and overrepresented norm;
- c) Create scenarios involving these groups of people with data that are specific to their experiences in these situations; and
- d) Test if AI algorithms generate results in line with these projected biased conclusions.

IBM has gone one step further by stress testing AI bias by using logically impossible or objectively false propositions¹⁷².

Some examples where we can use real-life biases to evaluate AI systems for bias include:

- a) A use case of "law enforcement is dispatched to reports of an altercation between young men" can be tested based on – incidents involving Black or Hispanic people are reported as being more serious than the same incidents involving white people¹⁷³; law enforcement and people calling 9-1-1 routinely overestimate the age of Black children and report them as being adults¹⁷⁴; and law enforcement wrongly assume that Black or Hispanic people are carrying firearms or other deadly weapons at a much higher rate than white people¹⁷⁵.
- b) In health care, a use case of "a smart watch monitors vital signs to predict specific medical emergencies" can be tested based on Black people have disproportionately higher incidence of underlying health conditions that lower the threshold for onset of medical emergencies¹⁷⁶; even medical professionals believe that Black people exaggerate pain and have a higher pain threshold¹⁷⁷; poor people have lower medication adherence due to affordability or scheduling issues,

leading to higher vulnerability¹⁷⁸; medical professionals downplay even lifethreatening symptoms faced by women¹⁷⁹; and due to limitations of clinical trials, there is lower familiarity with treatment of pregnant women¹⁸⁰, especially Black, Hispanic and Asian women¹⁸¹, with medical conditions.

3. Be Mindful of Social Impacts

Analytics and AI have led to exponential improvements in business outcomes across a wide range of value chains that cut across multiple industries. The pressure to improve business performance and drive improved return on assets and investment is even more acute in the current economic downturn, as corporate leaders and institutional investors focus on tangible business results and reallocate investments to companies that demonstrate sustained profits and cash flow¹⁸².

The last step in driving out algorithmic bias requires a bit of moral courage that we often talk about but seldom manifest. We need to reassess our relationship with the societies we operate in and the people we serve, and to redefine the role of corporations as not just economic creations to drive transactional efficiency and optimize returns on investment, but as social and political entities that have as much impact, if not more impact, on people and communities, than sovereign governments^{183,184}.

As technology becomes foundational to the ways we define and execute our business, we can take steps to address the potential social impacts of analytics and AI in business decisions:

3.1. Address Human Impact While Assessing Transactional Efficiency.

For every Al-driven decision, we need to identify and quantify not just business benefits but also the potential for negative impacts, especially on marginalized and underrepresented groups. For example:

- a) In one of the most widely studied impacts, facial recognition software misidentifies dark-skinned people much more frequently than white people based on being trained on data sets that are of predominantly white faces¹⁸⁵. This replicates the very real human bias where we differentiate minute differences in features of white people, but all Black people "look the same" to us¹⁸⁶. Misidentification has already led to Black and Hispanic people being arrested and imprisoned due to mistaken identity^{187,188}, being wrongfully imprisoned^{189,190}, and even being killed by law enforcement^{191,192}.
- b) Similarly, misgendering a transgender or nonbinary person is common in Al¹⁹³, which when applied to medical care can lead to impacts ranging from loss of privacy¹⁹⁴ to medical treatments that do not address underlying physical or psychological conditions¹⁹⁵ leading to trauma, disability and even death¹⁹⁶. Algorithms use data for training that are based not just on cisnormative standards, but on a binary (pardon the pun) correlation of biological sex with medical

guidelines. This approach fails recognize that for transgender and nonbinary people, some medical interactions require addressing the gender of the person while others need to address the biological sex¹⁹⁷, and still others need to consider that gender identity itself may have underlying biological contributors¹⁹⁸.

Increased understanding of negative social impacts has led to major technology companies such as Microsoft¹⁹⁹ and IBM²⁰⁰ pausing or restricting the commercialization of facial recognition software, and others such as Deloitte²⁰¹ and NTT DATA²⁰² prioritizing investment in the development and commercialization of ethical AI.

3.2. Realize and Articulate that Ethical AI is Also Good for Business.

While corporate leaders still see ethical AI and other ESG efforts as a trade-off between doing well and doing good²⁰³, there is high awareness of the negative impacts of artificial intelligence among both business decision makers²⁰⁴ and consumers²⁰⁵. Businesses recognize that biased algorithms can lead to significant brand and reputation damage²⁰⁶. Over half of private equity firms see ESG as a new lever of value creation²⁰⁷ and leading firms are publicly making ESG a priority²⁰⁸, driven by superior financial performance and valuation impact^{209,210}. Governments are taking early steps to hold companies accountable for adverse impacts of algorithms^{211,212,213}, replicating the increasing frequency and impact of privacy-related penalties imposed on companies^{214,215}.

As a result, a demonstrated commitment to removing algorithmic bias can be a powerful competitive differentiator and preempt emerging regulatory and compliance risks and costs.

This is one of those times where social impact and business impact are aligned and pushing us in the same direction. Driving out algorithmic bias has to be a foundational part of the design and adoption of AI.

Free People to Realize their Full Potential

Optimistic and idealistic projections of the future range from science fiction visions of a unified borderless world with no countries, no conflict, no currency and no want, to projections by opinion leaders that innovation can solve most if not all of our pressing problems by the end of the decade²¹⁶.

In contrast to these projections and goals, we are we are facing an uncertain future where:

- a) Technology innovation is closely associated with job loss²¹⁷;
- b) Automation is seen as a bigger threat to employment than low-cost labor and unfair trade practices are^{218,219};
- c) We confront record-low levels of optimism^{220,221} and trust in institutions²²² among Americans; and
- d) American workers are increasingly opting out of participation in the mainstream economy²²³.

Job loss and lower workforce participation have direct impacts on physical²²⁴ and mental health²²⁵, substance abuse²²⁶ and suicide²²⁷, while higher female unemployment raises the incidence of intimate partner violence²²⁸. These social impacts translate into tangible economic harms such as lower home prices²²⁹ which impact the single-greatest source of intergenerational wealth creation and higher social costs²³⁰ that persist into future generations^{231,232}, thus creating a self-reinforcing cycle of marginalization²³³.

The nature of innovation itself provides opportunities to break this cycle and free people to achieve their full potential. As leaders, we must bridge the gap between promise and reality, and find ways to realize at least part of the idealistic visions of a digitally enhanced future. We must prioritize reconciling innovation with improvements in the human condition, and work purposefully to restore the relevance of workers in technology-defined ecosystems.

1. Define Digital Jobs that Enhance the Human Element

Automation is projected to impact a quarter of all jobs in the United States substantially and put half of all current human effort at risk²³⁴, increasingly impacting high-skill highincome jobs, including those in the technology community²³⁵. This is however a reductive view based on a zero-sum approach that assumes changes happen on a static set of baseline conditions, applying the digital equivalent of the production theory of value²³⁶ rather than exploring the complementarity of labor and capital that has been key to sustained productivity gains²³⁷.

The reality is that the same forces that create automation also enable the creation of new jobs through new business models, new ecosystems and new required skills^{238,239,240}. By balancing the automation of routine, redundant and inefficient tasks with the creation of

new roles that rely on innovation to drive value, we can repurpose automation to drive demand for high-skilled technology jobs, through two strategies:

1.1. Create New Roles to serve New Digital Business Models.

Automation does not just improve business processes by optimizing workflows and reducing manual efforts, it also creates the potential for business to define and execute new ways of creating value. These new digital business models involve new products and services, new ways of engaging with customers, new ways to monetize customer and ecosystem interactions, and indeed, new roles that would not exist without these business models.

Examples of automation creating the need for new digitally-enabled roles proliferate across business value chains and cut across industries. Consider these selected examples:

- a) Remote Inspection: With the advent of private 5G networks enabling live 4K/8K video, integration of sensors for condition monitoring and measurement, and augmented reality and digital twins integrating insights and visualizing physical domains, companies can rely on automate systems to reduce the reliance on physical dispatch. While this impacts typically lower-cost field services roles, it creates the need for highly sophisticated remote inspection and quality assurance roles which require knowledge of emerging technologies and the ability to work in a highly digitized workplace and make autonomous data-driven decisions in real time;
- b) Upstream Oil and Gas: By integrating the same technologies used for remote inspections with real time drilling data visualization and predictive analytics platforms, oil & gas companies have improved yields, lowered asset downtime, improved response times and lowered personnel costs. This lowers the need for manual gathering and transmission of operational data, time consuming analysis and manual decision making, and people to manage checks and balances at each step. However, with decisions being made to the edge and requiring real time response to operational data, there is a need for operators who can understand the data, orchestrate various systems, make autonomous decisions and be accountable for the result of their decisions;
- c) Sales and Sales Operations: Automating and integrating customer engagement and sales processes is a priority for industrial automation, industrial equipment and technology companies. Mature technologies are being integrated with advanced analytics to drive proactive tailored solution offerings and automating the end-toend customer lifecycle. While this impacts the role of the traditional sales executive and back-office order management and billing staff, it creates new opportunities for sellers who have deeper technical knowledge to develop customer-specific solutions collaboratively with customers and operations staff who can orchestrate customer journeys across multiple analytics-driven systems and processes.

1.2. Rethink the Role of Humans in a Hyperautomated World.

Automation is already moving from being merely a driver of transactional efficiency to becoming a force for social disruption. With advances in AI, the scope of automation is extending beyond low-value repetitive tasks to those that require judgment and discretion, thus narrowing the range of roles where we need human actors²⁴¹. However, as automation drives even more human discretion and action out of transactions, and replaces these with machine intelligence and actions, it risks disrupting existing social contracts between people, governments and corporations.

As interactions and decisions become more automated and intrusive, there is already greater social and political demand for transparency and accountability^{242,243,244,245}. For automation to succeed and be accepted as an integral part of our evolving societies, there are three key areas where human discretion and action will be needed even more than before:

- a) Making decisions that have significant impacts on other people;
- b) Assessing and mitigating any adverse impacts of the decisions; and
- c) Being held accountable for the impacts and outcomes. We need to prioritize building these roles and responsibilities into the design of automated systems.

2. Prepare Workers for Future Roles

The current economic downturn is unlike others in history, as ongoing layoffs in the technology community are taking place at the same time as near-record low unemployment²⁴⁶ and continued labor shortages for technology jobs²⁴⁷.

Conventional wisdom is that technology companies are rightsizing based on aggressive hiring in the last two years, slowdown in the economy and economic uncertainty²⁴⁸. A more critical view of the current state of our society and economy sees workers increasingly deciding not the be part of a system they see as fundamentally unfair and flawed^{249,250}.

While both these factors contribute to current events, the underlying reason is more prosaic but no less damning of an indictment of our role as business and technology leaders. We are either unaware of or complicit in the bigger, longer-term trend of "great replacements".

In Silicon Valley and other technology centers today:

- a) Workers in sales, customer service, HR, recruiting, diversity & inclusion and operations, who are not considered core to product innovation or engineering, represent over 80% of all layoffs²⁵¹;
- b) Even coders, designers and analysts whose work can be automated are overrepresented in layoffs²⁵²; and

c) Workers with experience in older technologies or business models are less likely to be in demand²⁵³.

We are pushing out people not considered relevant to future competitiveness and looking for new workers who are seen as more adept in modern technologies that will define and execute new digital business models. If this sounds familiar, it should; we have seen the great replacement play out in places as Allentown, Dayton and Flint ²⁵⁴.

We need to break this pattern before it further fractures our industry and country, by preparing workers for future roles. The lack of a sufficient number of workers to fill available jobs, combined with the reluctance of companies to consider existing workers for these roles, explains why there are 300,000 to 400,000 unfilled technology jobs^{255,256} while at the same time over 120,000 jobs have been eliminated in less than a year.

The only way to address this issue, *in the absence of mass immigration* which is impossible or *another round of mass offshoring* which is impractical, is to reskill and upskill existing workers to fill emerging roles.

With 75 to 375 million workers globally needing to switch occupational categories and learn new skills by 2030²⁵⁷, the best way to approach reskilling is to build a lifecycle view of worker skills in the same way that we develop product lifecycles around projected business needs, as the two are inextricably linked. By developing learning plans, creating educational opportunities and defining career paths that are based on the future direction of technology and business models, we will increase the probability that existing technology workers are able to meet emerging needs.

3. Create A Mobile and Empowered Workforce

Technology workers, except those with highly specialized skills or at senior levels, are increasingly burnt out²⁵⁸ and actively rethinking their future²⁵⁹. This is in stark contrast to the projections of technology innovation leading to greater leisure and freedom for workers.

While addressing these issues requires coordination with government policymakers to drive meaningful changes in post-secondary education, immigration and social programs, there are tangible steps we can take to improve the lives of technology workers.

3.1. Restore Worker Mobility.

The prosperity that accrued to Americans before the Great Industrial Reset of the last 40 years was accompanied by geographical mobility. Internal mobility has been at the core of economic prospects, dignity and true emancipation for the American worker²⁶⁰. Unfortunately, this mobility has slowed down significantly, with less than 4% of Americans per year migrating internally across counties or states in the last decade,

half the level in the early-1980s²⁶¹. Lower mobility has a direct impact on economic opportunity and achievement²⁶².

The major contributors to this slowdown²⁶³ are - the need to have two incomes to support a family; dependence on employer-linked health care; falling property values; high student debt; and for non-Americans, employer-linked immigration programs.

Technology companies can address immediate issues by:

- a) Working with local and regional initiatives²⁶⁴ to attract technology workers from higher-cost areas;
- b) Providing joining bonuses that are recoverable over a period of time, providing both improved financial flexibility to move for a job and greater incentive to stay at the job;
- c) Extending employment benefits from group health care, where scale and risk pooling leads to lower costs, to group financial services, where similar forces can provide lower-interest personal loans even to people with poorer credit;
- d) Providing housing support for new workers until they can find new accommodation and/or sell homes to relocate;
- e) Providing access to job opportunities for spouses through social and business networks, so there is less of a drop in income as part of the move; and
- f) Collaborating with civic society organizations²⁶⁵, peer networks²⁶⁶, and staffing agencies^{267,268} that provide critical bridges to employment for foreign workers who are impacted worst by layoffs^{269,270}.

3.2. Translate Higher Productivity into Higher Flexibility.

With improvements in productivity made possible by automation, there is an opportunity to rethink the roles, job descriptions and engagement models for technology workers. The disruptions caused by COVID-19 have demonstrated that knowledge workers can be just as if not more productive^{271,272,273,274} without the constraints of fixed workplaces, fixed hours or direct in-person supervision. Taking this logic one step further, we can create flexible work models that enable workers to pursue other personal and professional interests, by:

- a) Formalizing flexible work schedules, which help all workers but disproportionately benefit women, working parents and workers who are caregivers to family members;
- Exploring 4-day work weeks for roles that do not require direct client interaction, and for those roles that do require client interactions, collaborating with clients to explore ways to meet client needs in this model;
- c) Enabling job sharing to provide flexible part-time work options to workers who need to balance work with other commitments including other work (see below); and

d) Finally, accepting and normalizing freelancing and side hustles. The harsh reality is that a sizeable percentage of technology workers already work two jobs^{275,276} or freelance in the gig economy²⁷⁷, and this will not go away just because we pretend it does not exist.

A Manifesto for Inclusive Innovation

In this research note, we have addressed key barriers to inclusive innovation and three priorities that technology leaders can focus on to address these challenges.

By:

- leading to create a truly inclusive and equitable technology community,
- driving out algorithmic bias so that innovation serves all people,
- and freeing people to realize their full potential,

we may finally be able to restore the promise of innovation to its rightful beneficiaries – the people.

The practical guidance in this research note enables us to purposefully guide innovation for the common good; leading to a community that drives equality, security and dignity for people as much as it creates economic value.

It is still not too late to harness technology innovation to usher in the new human renaissance that every previous era of innovation has promised but failed to deliver.

Let us begin.

About the Author



Edward Wilson-Smythe (they/them) is the Head of Research at TechPACT and is a prolific author and speaker on topics related to innovation, disruptive change, emerging ecosystems, and broader socioeconomic and equity impacts of innovation.

They are an entrepreneurial executive with proven success in defining and leading digitally-empowered business models to drive sustained competitiveness, superior business results, and improved social outcomes. These innovations create positive socioeconomic impacts on ecosystems at the corporate, institutional, social, community, and individual levels, through embedding considerations of social impact and social justice into the strategy and execution of large-scale digital innovation and transformation programs.

Edward is currently a Director in the Digital Innovation practice of AlixPartners, has led digital consulting practices at NTT DATA, Avasant and Gartner, and has worked as a consultant at Kearney and PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Acknowledgements

The author thanks the following people for their pioneering work in ethical innovation, who have been an inspiration for and a guiding light in the development of this research note:

Beena Ammanath (she/her), Head of the Global Deloitte Al Institute; Founder of Humans for Al; Author of "Trustworthy Al"

Dr. Joy Buolamwini (she/her), Founder and President, The Algorithmic Justice League

Bertina Ceccarelli (she/her), Chief Executive Officer, NPower

Michelle Dennedy (she/her), Founder of PrivacyCode; Partner at Privatus Strategy Consulting; former Chief Privacy Officer, Cisco and McAfee

Dr. Timnit Gebru (she/her), Founder & Executive Director at The Distributed AI Research Institute (DAIR)

Robert Brennan Hart (he/him), Founder and former Head of the Canadian Cloud Council; United Nations Top 70 Global Digital Leader

Terri Hatcher (she/her), Chief Diversity and Inclusion Officer, NTT DATA

Theresa Kushner (she/her), former Head of North America Innovation Centers, NTT DATA; Co-Author of "B2B Data-Driven Marketing: Sources, Uses, Results"

Earl Newsome (he/him), Chief Information Officer, Cummins; Co-Chairperson of TechPACT

Kevin Parikh (he/him), Founder, Chairman and CEO of Avasant; Lead Author of "Digital Singularity: A Case for Humanity"

About TechPACT

TechPACT envisions a world where anyone with a passion for technology has the opportunity to succeed. Founded by a group of impassioned technology CxOs, TechPACT is committed to raising diversity, equity, inclusion, and belonging (DEIB) across the technology community.

TechPACT empowers members to foster a culture of belonging by building awareness of diversity and equality opportunities and providing actionable strategies and tools to create inclusion. In their effort to expand the pipeline of diverse talent, TechPACT is inspiring youth to pursue careers in technology and providing resources to support diverse professionals throughout their careers. We support teachers and community outreach programs to enable STEAM programs and partner with organizations who are dedicated to closing the digital divide by contributing funding and/or sharing expertise.

TechPACT creates accountability through community and achieves its mission through the collective efforts of its members. Our members are a community of technology CxOs and leaders committed to making a difference. Members take "The Pledge," a personal promise to accept accountability and take action to increase representation and reduce the digital divide. TechPACT members recognize themselves as force multipliers and understand that each action they take creates an unstoppable network effect that will benefit the lives of millions across the globe.

To learn more about TechPACT's mission and to take the TechPACT pledge, visit <u>www.techpact.org</u>.

Sources

- ¹ Angus Maddison, "Contours of the World Economy 1-2030 AD: Essays in Macro-Economic History", Oxford University Press, Illustrated edition, Dec 5 2007.
- ² Pim de Zwart, "The Global History of Inequality", International Review of Social History, Vol. 64 Iss. 2, Jul 8 2019.
- ³ Robert Allen, "Economic Structure and Agricultural Productivity in Europe, 1300-1800", European Review of Economic History, Vol. 4 No. 1, Oxford University Press, 2000.
- ⁴ Giovanni Federico, "The Growth of World Agricultural Production, 1800-1938", European University Institute, ISBN: 9780762311194, Dec 11 2004.
- ⁵ Christine Fertig, Richard Paping and Henry French, "Landless Households in Rural Europe, 1600-1900", Boydell Studies in Rural History, Boydell & Brewer, 2022.
- ⁶ Howard Dodson, Amiri Baraka, Gail Lumet Buckley, Henry Louis Gates Jr. and Annette Gordon-Reed, "Jubilee: The Emergence of African-American Culture", National Geographic, Illustrated Edition, ISBN: 9780792269823, Feb 1 2003.
- ⁷ David W. Galenson, "The Rise and Fall of Indentured Servitude in the Americas: An Economic Analysis", The Journal of Economic History, Vol. 44 No. 1, Mar 1984.
- ⁸ Calum Murray, "John Locke's Theory of Property, and the Dispossession of Indigenous Peoples in the Settler-Colony", American Indian Law Journal, Vol. 10 Iss. 1, Jan 25 2022.
- ⁹ Justin Farrell, Paul Berne Burow, Kathryn McConnell, Jude Bayham, Kyle Whyte and Gal Koss, "Effects of Land Dispossession and Forced Migration on Indigenous Peoples in North America", Science, Vol. 374 Iss. 6567, Oct 29 2021.
- ¹⁰ Gregory Clark, "The Industrial Revolution in Theory and in History", University of California, Davis, Sep 2003. <u>https://faculty.econ.ucdavis.edu/faculty/gclark/papers/IR2003.pdf</u>
- ¹¹ Patrick Kiger, "7 Negative Effects of the Industrial Revolution", History Network, Nov 9 2021. <u>https://www.history.com/news/industrial-revolution-negative-effects</u>
- ¹² Elias Beck, "Working Conditions in the Industrial Revolution", History Crunch, Mar 25 2022. <u>https://www.historycrunch.com/working-conditions-in-the-industrial-revolution.html#/</u>
- ¹³ Martin Obschonka, "Research: The Industrial Revolution Left Psychological Scars That Can Still Be Seen Today", Harvard Business Review, Mar 26 2018. <u>https://hbr.org/2018/03/research-the-industrial-revolution-left-psychological-scars-that-can-still-be-seen-today</u>
- ¹⁴ David Brown and Michael J. Harrison, "The Family and Industrialisation", in A Sociology of Industrialisation: an Introduction, McMillian Business Management & Administration Series, ISBN: 9780333235584, Jan 1978.
- ¹⁵ Pim de Zwart, "Unfair Trade? Globalization, Institutions and Inequality in Southeast Asia, 1830-1940", Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research, Aug 31 2020.
- ¹⁶ Matthew Lange, James Mahoney and Matthias vom Hau, "Colonialism and Development: A Comparative Analysis of Spanish and British Colonies", American Journal of Sociology, Vol. 111 No. 5, The University of Chicago Press, March 2006.
- ¹⁷ John Russo and Sherry Lee Linkon, "The Social Costs Of Deindustrialization", in Richard McCormack (ed.), Manufacturing a Better Future for America, Alliance for American Manufacturing, ISBN: 978-0615288192, Jul 13 2009. <u>http://cwcs.ysu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/The-Social-Costs-Of-Deindustrialization.pdf</u>
- ¹⁸ Angus Maddison, "The World Economy: A Millennial Perspective", OECD Development Centre, Jun 12 2001.
- ¹⁹ Lance Roberts, "Why The Stock Market Is Detached From The Economy", Business Insider, Nov 12 2014. <u>https://www.businessinsider.com/the-stock-market-is-detached-from-the-economy-2014-11</u>
- ²⁰ Marc Goedhart, Tim Koller and Peter Stumpner, "Wall Street versus Main Street: Why the Disconnect?", McKinsey, Oct 8, 2020. <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/capabilities/strategy-and-corporate-finance/our-insights/wall-street-versus-main-street-why-the-disconnect</u>
- ²¹ International Labour Organization, "Global Wage Report 2012/13: Wages and Equitable Growth", ISBN: 9789221262367, 2013.
- ²² Gerald F. Davis and Suntae Kim, "Financialization of the Economy", Annual Review of Sociology, Vol. 41, Aug 2015.
- ²³ Hochul Shin and Keun Lee, "Impact of Financialization and Financial Development on Inequality: Panel Cointegration Results Using OECD Data", Asian Economic Papers, Vol. 18 Iss. 1, March 1 2019.
- ²⁴ Matt Orsagh, Jim Allen and Kurt Schacht, "Short-Termism Revisited", CFA Institute, published by the Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance, Oct 11 2020. <u>https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2020/10/11/short-termism-revisited/</u>
- ²⁵ Michael T. Owyang and Hannah G. Shell, "Taking Stock: Income Inequality and the Stock Market", Economic Synopses No. 7, Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, Apr 29 2016. <u>https://research.stlouisfed.org/publications/economic-synopses/2016/04/29/taking-stock-incomeinequality-and-the-stock-market/</u>
- ²⁶ Philippe Aghion and Patrick Bolton, A Theory of Trickle-Down Growth and Development", Review of Economic Studies, Vol. 64 Issue 2, Apr 1, 1997.
- ²⁷ Karen Petrou, "Engine of Inequality: The Fed and the Future of Wealth in America", Wiley, ISBN: 9781119726746, Mar 3 2021.
- ²⁸ Suresh Nallareddy, Ethan Rouen and Juan Carlos Suárez Serrato, "Corporate Tax Cuts Increase Income Inequality", Harvard Business School, Working Paper 18-101, May 4, 2018. <u>https://www.hbs.edu/ris/Publication%20Files/18-101%20Rouen%20Corporate%20Tax%20Cuts_0a4626be-774c-4b9a-8f96-d27e5f317aad.pdf</u>

- ²⁹ Alberta Cardaci, "Inequality, Household Debt and Financial Instability: An Agent-Based Perspective". Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, Vol. 149, Jan 2018.
- ³⁰ Nicholas Shaxson, "Tacking Tax Havens", Finance & Development, International Monetary Fund, Sep 2019. <u>https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/fandd/issues/2019/09/tackling-global-tax-havens-shaxon</u>
- ³¹ Chad Stone, Danilo Trisi, Arloc Sherman and Jennifer Beltrán, "A Guide to Statistics on Historical Trends in Income Inequality", Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, Jan 13 2020. <u>https://www.cbpp.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/11-28-11pov.pdf</u>
- ³² Michael McAfee, Sandy Fernandez, and Manuel Pastor, "100 Million and Counting: A Portrait of Economic Insecurity in the United States", joint publication of the Program for Environmental and Regional Equity at the University of Southern California, Mastercard Center for Inclusive Growth and PolicyLink, Dec 5 2018. <u>https://www.policylink.org/resources-tools/100-million</u>
- ³³ Emma Aisbett, Ann E. Harrison, David I. Levine, Jason Scorse, and Jed Silver, "Do MNCs Exploit Foreign Workers?", Brookings Institution, Nov 27 2019. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Aisbett-et-al. Brookings-draft-2019.11.26 Harrison.pdf</u>
- ³⁴ Dan Ciuriak, "The Data-driven Economy: Implications for Canada's Economic Strategy", Centre for International Governance Innovation, University of Waterloo, Policy Brief No. 151, June 2019.
- ³⁵ Hyeon-Wook Kim and Zia Qureshi, "Growth in a Time of Change: Global and Country Perspectives on a New Agenda", Brookings Institution Press, ISBN 9780815737759, Feb 25 2020.
- ³⁶ Mishel and Melat Kassa, "Top 1.0% of Earners See Wages Up 157.8% since 1979", Economic Policy Institute, Dec 18 2019. <u>https://www.epi.org/blog/top-1-0-of-earners-see-wages-up-157-8-since-1979/</u>
- ³⁷ Board of Governors of The Federal Reserve System, "Distribution of Household Wealth in the U.S. since 1989", Dec 16 2022. <u>https://www.federalreserve.gov/releases/z1/dataviz/dfa/distribute/chart/#quarter:0;series:Net%20worth;demographic:networth;population:1,3,5,7;units:levels;range:2005.2,2020.2</u>
- ³⁸ Frederico Cingano, "Trends in Income Inequality and its Impact on Economic Growth", OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers, No. 163, Dec 9 2014.
- ³⁹ Kemal Derviş and Zia Qureshi, "Income Inequality Within Countries: Rising Inequality", Brookings Institution, Aug 1 2016. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/income-distribution-within-countries.pdf</u>
- ⁴⁰ Gilbert Slater and Arthur H D Ackland, "Historical Outline of Land Ownership in England", The Report of the Land Enquiry Committee of the House of Commons of the United Kingdom, Hodder and Stoughton, 1913.
- ⁴¹ Stephen H. Haber. "Industrial Concentration and the Capital Markets: A Comparative Study of Brazil, Mexico, and the United States, 1830-1930", The Journal of Economic History, Vol. 51 No. 3, Cambridge University Press, Sep 1991.
- ⁴² US Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, "Diversity in High Tech", <u>https://www.eeoc.gov/special-report/diversity-high-tech</u>
- ⁴³ Maria Temming, "STEM's racial, ethnic and gender gaps are still strikingly large", Science News, Apr 14 2021. <u>https://www.sciencenews.org/article/science-technology-math-race-ethnicity-gender-diversity-gap</u>
- ⁴⁴ US Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, "Diversity in High Tech", https://www.eeoc.gov/special-report/diversity-high-tech
- ⁴⁵ Leanne Kemp, "Having women in leadership roles is more important than ever, here's why", World Economic Forum, <u>https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/03/more-women-in-leadership-shouldnt-matter-but-it-really-does/</u>, Mar 3 2020.
- ⁴⁶ Sarah K. White, "The 10 most in-demand tech jobs for 2023 and how to hire for them", CIO Magazine, Jan 6 2023. <u>https://www.cio.com/article/230935/hiring-the-most-in-demand-tech-jobs-for-2021.html</u>
- ⁴⁷ Kim A. Weeden, Dafna Gelbgiser and Stephen L. Morgan, "Pipeline Dreams: Occupational Plans and Gender Differences in STEM Major Persistence and Completion", Sociology of Education, Vol. 93 Iss. 4, Jun 3 2020.
- ⁴⁸ Catherine Riegle-Crumb, Barbara King and Yasmiyn Irizarry, "Does STEM Stand Out? Examining Racial/Ethnic Gaps in Persistence Across Postsecondary Fields", Educational Researcher, Vol. 48 Iss. 3, Feb 21 2019.
- ⁴⁹ Bryce Hughes, "Coming out in STEM: Factors Affecting Retention of Sexual Minority STEM students", Science Advances, Vol. 4 Iss. 3, Mar 14 2018.
- ⁵⁰ Aaditya Jain and Bailey Kaston, "Bridging the Persistence Gap: An Investigation of the Underrepresentation of Female and Minority Students in STEM Fields", Duke University, Apr 20 2020. <u>https://sites.duke.edu/econhonors/files/2020/05/jainkaston2020.pdf</u>
- ⁵¹ Jared Lindzon, "How Recent Tech Layoffs can Disproportionately Affect Women and People of Color", FastCompany, Jan 25 2023. https://www.fastcompany.com/90837794/recent-tech-layoffs-affect-women-poc
- ⁵² Roberto Bonfatti, "The Sustainability Of Empire in a Global Perspective: The Role of International Trade Patterns", Journal of International Economics, Vol. 108, Sep 2017.
- ⁵³ R. Findlay and K. O'Rourke, "Power and Plenty: Trade, War, and the World Economy in the Second Millennium", Princeton Economic History of the Western World Series, Princeton University Press, ISBN 9781400831883, 2009.
- ⁵⁴ Naomi Klein, "The Shock Doctrine: The Rise of Disaster Capitalism", Picador, ISBN: 9780312427993, Jun 24 2008.
- ⁵⁵ Global Witness, "Enemies of the State?", July 2019. <u>https://www.globalwitness.org/en/campaigns/environmental-activists/enemies-state/</u>
- ⁵⁶ Office of the United Nations High Commission for Human Rights, "States Obligated to Safeguard Equitable Access to and Use of Land UN Committee Publishes Guidance", Jan 25 2023.
- ⁵⁷ Jennifer Kavanagh, Bryan Frederick, Alexandra Stark, Nathan Chandler, Meagan L. Smith, Matthew Povlock, Lynn E. Davis and Edward Geist, "Characteristics of Successful U.S. Military Interventions", Rand Corporation, ISBN: 9781977402271, Jun 15 2019.

- ⁵⁸ Becky Little, "10 Times America Helped Overthrow a Foreign Government", History Network, <u>https://www.history.com/news/us-overthrow-foreign-governments</u>
- ⁵⁹ D. B. Dillard-Wright, "Technology Designed for Addiction", Psychology Today, Jan 4 2018. <u>https://www.psychologytoday.com/intl/blog/boundless/201801/technology-designed-addiction</u>
- ⁶⁰ Robert Sasse, "A Micro-Economic Perspective on Social Media in Context of the New Economy", Microeconomics and Macroeconomics, Vol. 4 No. 2, 2016.
- ⁶¹ Kogut, Bruce and Nalin Kulatilaka, "Operating Flexibility, Global Manufacturing, and the Option Value of a Multinational Network." Management Science, Vol. 40 Iss. 1, 1994.
- ⁶² Alain Deneault, "Corporations as Private Sovereign Powers", Transnational Institute, 2020. <u>https://longreads.tni.org/stateofpower/corporations-as-private-sovereign-powers</u>
- ⁶³ Dan Ciuriak, Discussion at the Next100 Symposium, Centre for International Governance Innovation, University of Waterloo, Sep 21-23 2022.
- ⁶⁴ Anton Korinek, Rajkumar Venkatesan and Seb Murray, "Rise of The Machines: AI and the Future of Business", Darden School of Management, University of Virginia, Sep 24 2021. <u>https://ideas.darden.virginia.edu/AI-future-of-business</u>
- ⁶⁵ Lee Rainie and Janna Anderson, "Code-Dependent: Pros and Cons of the Algorithm Age", Pew Research Center, Feb 8 2017. https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2017/02/08/code-dependent-pros-and-cons-of-the-algorithm-age/
- ⁶⁶ Nicholas A. Christakis, "How AI Will Rewire Us", The Atlantic, Apr 2019. <u>https://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/2019/04/robots-human-relationships/583204/</u>
- ⁶⁷ Jennifer L. Schenker, "AI Is Changing the Way Companies Interact With Their Customers", The Innovator News, Jun 12 2017. <u>https://innovator.news/ai-is-changing-the-way-companies-interact-with-their-customers-fe3146369270</u>
- ⁶⁸ Nadim Abillama, Steven Mills, Greg Boison, and Miguel Carrasco, "Unlocking the Value of Al-Powered Government", Boston Consulting Group, Jul 21 2021. <u>https://www.bcg.com/publications/2021/unlocking-value-ai-in-government</u>
- ⁶⁹ Damini Gupta and T. S. Krishnan, "Algorithmic Bias: Why Bother?", California Management Review, University of Berkeley, Nov 17 2020. <u>https://cmr.berkeley.edu/assets/documents/pdf/2020-11-algorithmic-bias.pdf</u>
- ⁷⁰ Heather Kelly, "AI is Hurting People of Color and the Poor. Experts Want to Fix That", CNN, July 23 2018. https://money.cnn.com/2018/07/23/technology/ai-bias-future/index.html
- ⁷¹ Melissa Hogenboom, "Educationism: The Hidden Bias we Often Ignore", BBC, Dec 20 2017. <u>https://www.bbc.com/future/article/20171219-the-hidden-judgements-holding-people-back</u>
- ⁷² Genevieve Smith and Ishita Rustagi, "When Good Algorithms Go Sexist: Why and How to Advance AI Gender Equity", Stanford Social Innovation Review, Mar 31 2021.
 - https://ssir.org/articles/entry/when good algorithms go sexist why and how to advance ai gender equity
- ⁷³ Olga Akselrod, "How Artificial Intelligence Can Deepen Racial and Economic Inequities", American Civil Liberties Union, Jul 13 2021. <u>https://www.aclu.org/news/privacy-technology/how-artificial-intelligence-can-deepen-racial-and-economic-inequities</u>
- ⁷⁴ Jamie Wareham, "Why Artificial Intelligence Is Set Up To Fail LGBTQ People", Forbes, Mar 21 2021. <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/jamiewareham/2021/03/21/why-artificial-intelligence-will-always-fail-lgbtq-people</u>
- ⁷⁵ Elliot Turiel, "Cultural Practices, Oppression, and Morality", Human Development, Vol. 41 No. 3 1998.
- ⁷⁶ The National Museum of African American History and Culture, "Social Identities and Systems of Oppression". <u>https://nmaahc.si.edu/learn/talking-about-race/topics/social-identities-and-systems-oppression</u>
- ⁷⁷ Ron Carson, "What Does a Boom And Bust Cycle Mean For Your Personal and Business Planning?", Forbes, Sep 20 2022. <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/rcarson/2022/09/20/what-does-a-boom-and-bust-cycle-mean-for-your-personal-and-business-planning/</u>
- ⁷⁸ Richard V. Reeves and Christopher Pulliam, "Middle Class Incomes have Fallen Behind and Not Set to Catch Up Says CBO", Brookings Institute, Dec 20, 2019. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/blog/up-front/2019/12/20/middle-class-incomes-have-fallen-behind-and-not-set-tocatch-up-says-cbo/</u>
- ⁷⁹ Rani Molla, "Knowledge Workers Could Be the Most Impacted by Future Automation", Vox, Nov 20 2019. https://www.vox.com/recode/2019/11/20/20964487/white-collar-automation-risk-stanford-brookings
- ⁸⁰ David Deming, "AI and Robots are Displacing Science and Tech Workers. The Question Is: How Quickly?", PBS News Hour, Jan 22 2018. <u>https://www.pbs.org/newshour/economy/making-sense/ai-and-robots-are-displacing-science-and-tech-jobs-the-question-is-how-quickly</u>
- ⁸¹ Andrew Pentis, "In Which Majors Do Students Go Furthest Into Debt, and Is it Worth it?", Jul 30 2019. https://www.lendingtree.com/student/majors-students-debt-study/
- ⁸² Chris Horymski, "Average Total Debt Balances in the Largest U.S. Cities in 2022", Experian, Sep 20 2022. https://www.experian.com/blogs/ask-experian/average-total-debt-balances-in-largest-u-s-cities/
- ⁸³ Megan DeMatteo, "The Average Millennial Has \$27,251 in Non-Mortgage Consumer Debt Here's How They Compare to Other Generations", CNBC, Oct 17 2022. <u>https://www.cnbc.com/select/how-much-debt-do-millennials-have/</u>
- ⁸⁴ Abha Bhattarai, "The Average Millennial Has a Net Worth of \$8,000. That's Far Less Than Previous Generations", The Washington Post, May 31 2019. <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2019/05/31/millennials-have-an-average-net-worth-thats-significantly-less-thanprevious-generations/</u>

- ⁸⁵ Jeremy Horpedahl and Harrison Searles, "The Tax Exemption of Employer-Provided Health Insurance", Mercatus Center, George Mason University, Sep 10 2013. <u>https://www.mercatus.org/students/research/policy-briefs/tax-exemption-employer-provided-health-insurance</u>
- ⁸⁶ Julia Gelatt and Jeremy L. Neufeld, "Should the U.S. Adopt a Merit-Based Immigration System", HR Magazine, Society for Human Resource Management, May 28 2020.
- ⁸⁷ Gregory Krieg, "Millennials Are the Best-Educated Generation in History But It's Not All Good News", MIC Magazine, Aug 11 2021. <u>https://www.mic.com/articles/100790/millennials-are-the-best-educated-generation-in-history-but-not-for-the-reason-you-think</u>
- ⁸⁸ Trevor Wheelwright, "The Top Tech Salaries in the US in 2021", <u>https://www.business.org/hr/benefits/highest-tech-salaries/</u>
- ⁸⁹ Digital Around the World Report, <u>https://datareportal.com/global-digital-overview</u>
- ⁹⁰ Monica Anderson, Skye Toor, Kenneth Olmstead, Lee Rainie and Aaron Smith, "Activism in the Social Media Age", Pew Research Center, July 11 2018. <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2018/07/11/activism-in-the-social-media-age/</u>
- ⁹¹ Edward Wilson-Smythe and Earl Newsome, "Impact Beyond the Diversity Headlines: How We can Drive Meaningful Diversity, Equity, Inclusion and Belonging in Technology", TechPACT Equity for All Research Series, TechPACT, ISBN: 9798886274868, 2022.
- ⁹² Matt Barnum, "How the gender gap in STEM might get its start in elementary school", Chalkbeat, Oct 28 2019. <u>https://www.chalkbeat.org/2019/10/28/21109100/how-the-gender-gap-in-stem-might-get-its-start-in-elementary-school</u>
- ⁹³ Sarah Schwartz, "Racial Disparities in STEM Start as Early as Kindergarten, New Study Finds", EducationWeek, Jan 19 2023. <u>https://www.edweek.org/teaching-learning/racial-disparities-in-stem-start-as-early-as-kindergarten-new-study-finds/2023/01</u>
- ⁹⁴ Alissa Renales, "LGBTQIA+ Individuals in STEM", Rutgers University, Jun 3 2021. <u>https://sites.rutgers.edu/speaking-of-stem/lgbtqia-individuals-in-stem/</u>
- ⁹⁵ Mark J. Chin, David M. Quinn, Tasminda K. Dhaliwal and Virginia S. Lovison, "Bias in the Air: A Nationwide Exploration of Teachers' Implicit Racial Attitudes, Aggregate Bias, and Student Outcomes", Educational Researcher, Vol. 49 Iss. 8, Jul 14 2020.
- ⁹⁶ D.M. Quinn, "Experimental Evidence on Teachers' Racial Bias in Student Evaluation: The Role of Grading Scales", Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, Vol. 42 Iss. 3, Jun 22 2020.
- ⁹⁷ UNESCO Global Education Monitoring Report, "Challenging Gender Bias and Stereotypes In and Through Education; The Latest Facts on Gender Equality in Education", Mar 18 2022.
- ⁹⁸ Azlin Mansor & Prem Maniam, Michael Hunt and Mohamed Nor, "Benefits and Disadvantages of Streaming Practices to Accommodate Students by Ability". Creative Education, Vol. 7, No 17, Nov 2016.
- ⁹⁹ S. González-Pérez, R. Mateos de Cabo and M. Sáinz. "Girls in STEM: Is It a Female Role-Model Thing?", Front Psychology, Vol. 11, Sep 10 2020.
- ¹⁰⁰ Annie Lennon, "Why Are There So Few Black People in STEM?", Labroots, Jun 14 2020. <u>https://www.labroots.com/trending/chemistry-and-physics/17877/black-people-stem</u>
- ¹⁰¹ Sarah D. Sparks, "Classroom Biases Hinder Students' Learning", EducationWeek, Oct 27 2015. https://www.edweek.org/leadership/classroom-biases-hinder-students-learning/2015/10
- ¹⁰² J. G. Stout and H. M. Wright, "Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Queer Students' Sense of Belonging in Computing: An Intersectional Approach," Computing in Science & Engineering, Vol. 18 No. 3, May-Jun 2016.
- ¹⁰³ Julia Moeller, "What If the Bully Is a Teacher? Abusive Leadership Behavior in Education", Psychology Today, Jul 15 2018.
- ¹⁰⁴ Katherine Kricorian, Michelle Seu, Daniel Lopez, Elsie Ureta & Ozlem Equils, "Factors Influencing Participation of Underrepresented Students In STEM Fields: Matched Mentors and Mindsets", International Journal of STEM Education, Vol. 7 Art. 16, Apr 21 2020.
- ¹⁰⁵ Susan Krauss Whitbourne, "We All Need Role Models to Motivate and Inspire Us", Psychology Today, Nov 19 2013.
- ¹⁰⁶ Richard V. Reeves, "The dangerous Separation of the American Upper Middle Class", Brookings Institute, Sep 3 2015. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/research/the-dangerous-separation-of-the-american-upper-middle-class/</u>
- ¹⁰⁷ Lynne Fetter, "The Importance of Mentoring: Experience, Practice and Policy", US Department of Labor, Jan 27 2022.
- ¹⁰⁸ Margaret W. Cahalan, Marisha Addison, Nicole Brunt, Pooja R. Patel, Terry Vaughan III, Alysia Genao and Laura W. Perna, "Indicators of Higher Education Equity in the United States: 2022 Historical Trend Report", The Pell Institute for the Study of Opportunity in Higher Education, Council for Opportunity in Education (COE) and Alliance for Higher Education and Democracy of the University of Pennsylvania (PennAHEAD), 2022. <u>http://pellinstitute.org/indicators/downloads/2022 Executive Summary of the 2022 Indicators Report.pdf</u> <u>http://pellinstitute.org/downloads/publications-Indicators of Higher Education Equity in the US 2022 Historical Trend Report.pdf</u>
- ¹⁰⁹ Charlie Ambler, "STEM Degrees Pay, But How Much Do They Cost?", Forbes, Jul 24 2013. <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/charlesambler/2013/07/24/stem-degrees-pay-but-how-much-do-they-cost/?sh=5195e6eb37a9</u>
- ¹¹⁰ Brent Orrell and Daniel A. Cox, "STEM Perspectives: Attitudes, Opportunities, and Barriers in America's STEM Workforce", American Enterprise Institute, Jul 15 2020. <u>https://www.aei.org/research-products/report/stem-perspectives-attitudes-opportunities-and-barriers-in-americas-stem-workforce/</u>
- ¹¹¹ Muhammad Alameldin, "Unpaid Internships: Worse than Working for Free", The Greenlining Institute, Nov 20 2020.
- ¹¹² Sanjeev Agrawal, "How Companies Can Attract the Best College Talent", Harvard Business Review, Mar 17 2014. <u>https://hbr.org/2014/03/how-companies-can-attract-the-best-college-talent</u>
- ¹¹³ Lisa Henley and Phyllis Roberts, "Perceived Barriers to Higher Education in STEM Among Disadvantaged Rural Students: A Case Study", Inquiry: The Journal of the Virginia Community Colleges, Vol. 20 Iss. 1 Art. 4, 2016.

- ¹¹⁴ Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Educational Attainment for Workers 25 Years and Older by Detailed Occupation 2018-19", <u>https://www.bls.gov/emp/tables/educational-attainment.htm</u>
- ¹¹⁵ Byjill Hamburg Coplan, "High Paying Tech Jobs that Don't Require STEM Degrees", Fortune, Jun 24 2015. <u>https://fortune.com/2015/06/24/tech-jobs-without-stem-degrees/</u>
- ¹¹⁶ Joseph B. Fuller, Christina Langer, Julia Nitschke, Layla O'Kane, Matt Sigelman and Bledi Taska, "The Emerging Degree Reset", Harvard Business School, 2021. <u>https://www.hbs.edu/managing-the-future-of-work/Documents/research/emerging_degree_reset_020922.pdf</u>
- ¹¹⁷ Francesca Gino, "The Business Case for Curiosity", Harvard Business Review, Sep-Oct 2018. <u>https://hbr.org/2018/09/the-business-case-for-curiosity</u>
- ¹¹⁸ Anthony Andrew, "Employees' Commitment and Its Impact on Organizational Performance", Asian Journal of Economics, Business and Accounting, Vol. 5, Dec 16 2017.
- ¹¹⁹ Tomas Chamorro-Premuzic and Becky Frankiewicz, "Does Higher Education Still Prepare People for Jobs?", Harvard Business Review, Jan 14, 2019. <u>https://hbr.org/2019/01/does-higher-education-still-prepare-people-for-jobs</u>
- ¹²⁰ Susan Caminiti, "No College Degree? No Problem. More Companies are Eliminating Requirements to Attract the Workers They Need", CNBC, Apr 25 2022. <u>https://www.cnbc.com/2022/04/25/companies-eliminate-college-degree-requirement-to-draw-needed-workers.html</u>
- ¹²¹ Ivy Morgan and Ary Amerikaner, "Funding Gaps 2018: An Analysis of School Funding Equity Across the U.S. and Within Each State", The Education Trust, Feb 27 2018, <u>https://s3-us-east-2.amazonaws.com/edtrustmain/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/20180601/Funding-Gaps-2018-Report-UPDATED.pdf</u>
- ¹²² Laura Meckler, "Public Education is Facing a Crisis of Epic Proportions", Washington Post, Jan 30 2022. <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/education/2022/01/30/public-education-crisis-enrollment-violence/</u>
- ¹²³ Tyler Kingkade, "Critical Race Theory Battles are Driving Frustrated, Exhausted Educators Out Of Their Jobs", NBC News, Jul 12 2021. https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/critical-race-theory-battles-are-driving-frustrated-exhausted-educators-out-n1273595
- ¹²⁴ Dave Trabert, "School Officials' Maniacal Focus on Equity Should Shift to Academic Preparation", The Sentinel, Jan 27 2023. <u>https://sentinelksmo.org/school-officials-maniacal-focus-on-equity-should-shift-to-academic-preparation/</u>
- ¹²⁵ Lambda Legal, "#DontEraseUs: FAQ About Anti-LGBT Curriculum Laws", https://www.lambdalegal.org/dont-erase-us/fag
- ¹²⁶ Kimberly A. Whitler, "Top 50 Most Desirable Employers For Engineers And Technologists", Forbes, Oct 17 2020. <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/kimberlywhitler/2020/10/17/top-50-most-attractive-employers-according-to-engineeringit-students/?sh=4c19ff834798</u>
- ¹²⁷ Roger Lee, <u>https://layoffs.fyi/</u>, retrieved Sep 5, 2023.
- ¹²⁸ Corey Jones, Daina Middleton and Rebecca Weaver, "Don't Let Layoffs Undermine Your DEI Efforts", Harvard Business Review, Jul 25 2022. https://hbr.org/2022/07/dont-let-layoffs-undermine-your-dei-efforts
- ¹²⁹ Jared Lindzon, "How Recent Tech Layoffs Can Disproportionately Affect Women and People of Color", FastCompany, Jan 25 2023. https://www.fastcompany.com/90837794/recent-tech-layoffs-affect-women-poc
- ¹³⁰ Alexandra Kalev, "How 'Neutral' Layoffs Disproportionately Affect Women and Minorities", Harvard Business Review, Jul 26 2016. <u>https://hbr.org/2016/07/how-neutral-layoffs-disproportionately-affect-women-and-minorities</u>
- ¹³¹ Vittoria Elliott, "Tech Industry Layoffs May Undo Workforce Diversity Gains", Wired, Jul 21 2022. <u>https://www.wired.com/story/tech-layoffs-diversity/</u>
- ¹³² Amber Burton, "How to Root Out Unconscious Bias in Layoffs", Protocol, Jun 30 2022. <u>https://www.protocol.com/newsletters/protocol-workplace/avoid-bias-layoffs</u>
- ¹³³ Kim Parker, Juliana Horowitz and Renee Stepler, "On Gender Differences, No Consensus on Nature vs. Nurture", Pew Research Center, Dec 5 2017. <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2017/12/05/on-gender-differences-no-consensus-on-nature-vs-nurture/</u>
- ¹³⁴ Michelle Holder, "African American Men and the U.S. Labor Market During Recessions and Economic Recoveries", Washington Center for Equitable Growth, Feb 11 2022. <u>https://equitablegrowth.org/african-american-men-and-the-u-s-labor-market-during-recessions-andeconomic-recoveries/</u>
- ¹³⁵ Sarah Nzau, Camille Busette, Richard V. Reeves and Kwadwo Frimpong, "Social Networks and Economic Mobility What the Findings Reveal", Brookings Institution, Mar 9 2021. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/blog/how-we-rise/2021/03/09/social-networks-and-economic-mobility-what-the-findings-reveal/</u>
- ¹³⁶ Laura Giuliano, David I. Levine and Jonathan Leonard, "Racial Bias in the Manager-Employee Relationship: An Analysis of Quits, Dismissals, and Promotions at a Large Retail Firm", The Journal of Human Resources, Vol. 46 No. 1, Winter 2011.
- ¹³⁷ Francesca Gino, "Another Reason Top Managers Are Disproportionally White Men", Scientific American, September 12 2017. <u>https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/another-reason-top-managers-are-disproportionally-white-men/</u>
- ¹³⁸ Kim Parker and Renee Stepler, "Americans See Men as The Financial Providers, Even as Women's Contributions Grow", Pew Research Center, Sep 20 2017. <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/09/20/americans-see-men-as-the-financial-providers-even-as-womenscontributions-grow/</u>
- ¹³⁹ Colleen Flaherty Manchester, Lisa M. Leslie and Patricia C. Dahm, "Bringing Home the Bacon: The Relationships among Breadwinner Role, Performance, and Pay", Industrial Relations, Vol. 58 No. 1, Jan 2019.
- ¹⁴⁰ Diana Boesch and Shilpa Phadke, "When Women Lose All the Jobs: Essential Actions for a Gender-Equitable Recovery", Center for American Progress, Feb 1 2021. <u>https://www.americanprogress.org/article/women-lose-jobs-essential-actions-gender-equitable-recovery/</u>

- ¹⁴¹ https://supreme.justia.com/cases/federal/us/401/424/
- ¹⁴² <u>https://www.eeoc.gov/civil-rights-act-1991-original-text</u>
- ¹⁴³ Rocki-Lee Dewitt, Linda Klebe Trevino and Kelly A. Mollica. "Stuck In The Middle: A Control-Based Model Of Managers' Reactions To Their Subordinates' Layoffs", Journal of Managerial Issues, Vol. 15 No. 1, Spring 2003.
- ¹⁴⁴ Christopher D. Zatzick, Bin Zhao and Peter M. Tingling, "Avoiding Layoff Blunders", MIT Sloan Management Review, Feb 18 2014. <u>https://sloanreview.mit.edu/article/avoiding-layoff-blunders/</u>
- ¹⁴⁵ Jeroen Stouten, Denise M. Rousseau and David De Cremer, "Successful Organizational Change: Integrating the Management Practice and Scholarly Literatures", The Academy of Management Annals, Vol. 12 Iss. 2, April 2018.
- ¹⁴⁶ Laura Morgan Roberts, Anthony J. Mayo and David A. Thomas, "Race, Work, and Leadership: New Perspectives on the Black Experience", Harvard Business Press, ISBN: 978-1633698017, Sep 13 2019.
- ¹⁴⁷ Joy Buolamwini, Vicente Ordóñez, Jamie Morgenstern and Erik Learned-Miller, "FACIAL RECOGNITION TECHNOLOGIES: A Primer", Algorithmic Justice League, May 29 2020. <u>https://global-</u> uploads.webflow.com/5e027ca188c99e3515b404b7/5ed1002058516c11edc66a14_FRTsPrimerMay2020.pdf
- ¹⁴⁸ Alex Hearn, "Google's Solution to Accidental Algorithmic Racism: Ban Gorillas", The Guardian, Jan 12 2018. <u>https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2018/jan/12/google-racism-ban-gorilla-black-people</u>
- ¹⁴⁹ Julia Angwin, Jeff Larson, Surya Mattu and Lauren Kirchner, "Machine Bias: There's Software Used Across The Country to Predict Future Criminals. And It's Biased Against Blacks", ProPublica, May 23 2016. <u>https://www.propublica.org/article/machine-bias-risk-assessments-incriminal-sentencing</u>
- ¹⁵⁰ Kashmir Hill, "Another Arrest, and Jail Time, Due to a Bad Facial Recognition Match", New York Times, Dec 29 2020. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/12/29/technology/facial-recognition-misidentify-jail.html</u>
- ¹⁵¹ Connor Perrett, "A social media app just for 'females' intentionally excludes trans women", Business Insider, Jan 23 2022. <u>https://www.businessinsider.com/giggle-app-uses-ai-to-exclude-trans-women-ceo-says-2022-1</u>
- ¹⁵² Jayson Hawkins, "Problems with Predictive Policing", Criminal Legal News, Human Rights Defense Center, Sep 2020. <u>https://www.criminallegalnews.org/news/2020/aug/15/problems-predictive-policing/</u>
- ¹⁵³ Randy Rieland, Artificial Intelligence Is Now Used to Predict Crime. But Is It Biased?", Smithsonian Magazine, Mar 15 2018. <u>https://www.smithsonianmag.com/innovation/artificial-intelligence-is-now-used-predict-crime-is-it-biased-180968337/</u>
- ¹⁵⁴ Peter Varhol, "Testing for bias in your AI software: Why it's needed, how to do it", TechBeacon. <u>https://techbeacon.com/app-dev-testing/testing-bias-your-ai-software-why-its-needed-how-do-it</u>
- ¹⁵⁵ Sarah Myers West, Meredith Whittaker, Kate Crawford, "Discriminating Systems: Gender, Race, and Power in AI", AI Now Institute, New York University, April 2019. <u>https://ainowinstitute.org/discriminatingsystems.pdf</u>
- ¹⁵⁶ Don Fancher, Beena Ammanath, Jonathan Holdowsky and Natasha Buckley, "AI Model Bias can Damage Trust More Than You May Know. But it Doesn't Have To", Deloitte Insights, Dec 8 2021. <u>https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/focus/cognitive-technologies/ai-model-bias.html</u>
- ¹⁵⁷ Sian Townson, "Manage AI Bias Instead of Trying to Eliminate It", MIT Sloan Management Review, Jan 26 2023. <u>https://sloanreview.mit.edu/article/manage-ai-bias-instead-of-trying-to-eliminate-it/</u>
- ¹⁵⁸ Beena Ammanath, "Trust at the Center: Building an Ethical AI Framework", Forbes, Mar 26 2020. <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/insights-ibmai/2020/03/26/trust-at-the-center-building-an-ethical-ai-framework/</u>
- ¹⁵⁹ Rob Thomas, "AI in 2020: From Experimentation to Adoption", IBM Think Blog, Jan 3 2020. <u>https://www.ibm.com/blogs/think/2020/01/ai-in-2020-from-experimentation-to-adoption/</u>
- ¹⁶⁰ Laurence Goasduff, "3 Barriers to AI Adoption, Gartner", September 18 2019. <u>https://www.gartner.com/smarterwithgartner/3-barriers-to-ai-adoption</u>
- ¹⁶¹ Ben Ari, "How To Use Data To Take Your Company To The Next Level", Authority Magazine, published in Medium, Jan 14 2023. <u>https://medium.com/authority-magazine/edward-wilson-smythe-of-alixpartners-on-how-to-use-data-to-take-your-company-to-the-next-level-3d90ea9235cf</u>
- ¹⁶² Inioluwa Deborah Raji, Andrew Smart, Rebecca N. White, Margaret Mitchell, Timnit Gebru, Ben Hutchinson, Jamila Smith-Loud, Daniel Theron and Parker Barnes, "Closing the AI Accountability Gap: Defining an End-to-End Framework for Internal Algorithmic Auditing", ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency (FAT& 20), January 27-30, 2020. <u>https://dl.acm.org/doi/pdf/10.1145/3351095.3372873</u> <u>https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1GWlq8qGZXb2INHxWBuo2wl-rlHsjNPM0</u>
- ¹⁶³ Bernard Fraenkel, "The Art Of Technical Due Diligence", Forbes Technology Council, Apr 11 2019. <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbestechcouncil/2019/04/11/the-art-of-technical-due-diligence/</u>
- ¹⁶⁴ Steve Nouri, "The Role Of Bias In Artificial Intelligence", Forbes Technology Council, Feb 4 2021. https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbestechcouncil/2021/02/04/the-role-of-bias-in-artificial-intelligence/
- ¹⁶⁵ Jonas Dieckmann, "Ethics in AI: Potential Root Causes for Biased Algorithms", Towards Data Science, Jan 27 2023. <u>https://towardsdatascience.com/ethics-in-ai-potential-root-causes-for-biased-algorithms-890091915aa3</u>
- ¹⁶⁶ Reva Schwartz, Apostol Vassilev, Kristen Greene, Lori Perine, Andrew Burt and Patrick Hall, "Towards a Standard for Identifying and Managing Bias in Artificial Intelligence", NIST Special Publication 1270, Mar 2022.

- ¹⁶⁷ Samantha Artiga, Jennifer Kates, Josh Michaud and Latoya Hill, "Racial Diversity within COVID-19 Vaccine Clinical Trials: Key Questions and Answers", Kaiser Family Foundation, Jan 26 2021. <u>https://www.kff.org/racial-equity-and-health-policy/issue-brief/racial-diversity-withincovid-19-vaccine-clinical-trials-key-questions-and-answers/</u>
- ¹⁶⁸ Enrique Neblett, "COVID-19 and the Disproportionate Impact on Black Americans", School of Public Health, University of Michigan, Jul 1 2020. <u>https://sph.umich.edu/news/2020posts/covid-19-and-the-disproportionate-impact-on-black-americans.html</u>
- ¹⁶⁹ Daniel C. Sizemore, "COVID-19 Infections by Race: What's Behind the Health Disparities?", Mayo Clinic, Oct 6 2022. <u>https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/coronavirus/expert-answers/coronavirus-infection-by-race/faq-20488802</u>
- ¹⁷⁰ Mark Feffer, "Eliminating Bias in AI is No Easy Feat, but Fixes Do Exist", TechTarget, Jul 19 2019. <u>https://www.techtarget.com/searchhrsoftware/feature/Eliminating-bias-in-AI-is-no-easy-feat-but-fixes-do-exist</u>
- ¹⁷¹ Kathleen Walch, "How to Detect Bias in Existing AI Algorithms", TechTarget, May 6 2021. <u>https://www.techtarget.com/searchenterpriseai/feature/How-to-detect-bias-in-existing-AI-algorithms</u>
- ¹⁷² Nishtha Madaan, "IBM Researchers Check AI Bias with Counterfactual Text", IBM Research Blog, Feb 5 2021. https://www.ibm.com/blogs/research/2021/02/ai-bias-counterfactual-text/
- ¹⁷³ Elizabeth Sun, "The Dangerous Racialization of Crime in U.S. News Media", Center for American Progress, Aug 29 2018. https://www.americanprogress.org/article/dangerous-racialization-crime-u-s-news-media/
- ¹⁷⁴ Alison N. Cooke and Amy G. Halberstadt, "Adultification, Anger Bias, and Adults' Different Perceptions of Black and White Children, Cognition and Emotion, Vol. 35 Iss. 7, Jul 7 2021.
- 175 Kirsten Weir, "Policing in Black & White", Monitor on Psychology, Vol. 47 No. 11, American Psychological Association, Dec 2016.
- ¹⁷⁶ Latoya Hill, Samantha Artiga and Sweta Haldar. "Key Facts on Health and Health Care by Race and Ethnicity", Kaiser Family Foundation, Jan 26 2022. <u>https://www.kff.org/racial-equity-and-health-policy/report/key-facts-on-health-and-health-care-by-race-and-ethnicity/</u>
- ¹⁷⁷ Alicia A. Wallace, "Race and Medicine: 5 Dangerous Medical Myths That Hurt Black People", Healthline, Sep 30 2020. <u>https://www.healthline.com/health/dangerous-medical-myths-that-hurt-black-people</u>
- ¹⁷⁸ Kirsi Kvarnström, Marja Airaksinen and Helena Liira, "Barriers and Facilitators to Medication Adherence: A Qualitative Study with General Practitioners", The BMJ, Vol. 8 Iss. 1, British Medical Association, Nov 28 2017.
- ¹⁷⁹ Camille Noe Pagán, "When Doctors Downplay Women's Health Concerns", New York Times, May 3 2018. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2018/05/03/well/live/when-doctors-downplay-womens-health-concerns.html</u>
- ¹⁸⁰ Emily Paulsen, "Recognizing, Addressing Unintended Gender Bias in Patient Care", Duke Health Practice Management, Jan 14 2020. <u>https://physicians.dukehealth.org/articles/recognizing-addressing-unintended-gender-bias-patient-care</u>
- ¹⁸¹ Latoya Hill, Samantha Artiga and Usha Ranji, "Racial Disparities in Maternal and Infant Health: Current Status and Efforts to Address Them", Kaiser Family Foundation, Nov 1 2022. <u>https://www.kff.org/racial-equity-and-health-policy/issue-brief/racial-disparities-in-maternal-and-infant-health-current-status-and-efforts-to-address-them/</u>
- ¹⁸² Mark Veldon, "Lessons Learned? Has the Pandemic Prepared Private Equity for Recession?", AlixPartners, Sep 5 2022. <u>https://insights.alixpartners.com/post/102hwe5/lessons-learned-has-the-pandemic-prepared-private-equity-for-recession?</u>
- ¹⁸³ "Nonstate Actors: Impact on International Relations and Implications for the United States", National Intelligence Officer for Economics and Global Issues, National Intelligence Council, Aug 23 2007. <u>https://irp.fas.org/nic/nonstate_actors_2007.pdf</u>
- ¹⁸⁴ Milan Babic, Jan Fichtner and Eelke M. Heemskerk, "States versus Corporations: Rethinking the Power of Business in International Politics", The International Spectator, Vol. 52 Iss. 4, Nov 16 2017.
- ¹⁸⁵ Joy Boulamwini and Timnit Gebru, "Gender Shades: Intersectional Accuracy Disparities in Commercial Gender Classification", Proceedings of Machine Learning Research, Vol. 81, 2018.
- ¹⁸⁶ Brent L. Hughes, Nicholas P. Camp, Jesse Gomez, Vaidehi S. Natu, Kalanit Grill-Spector and Jennifer L. Eberhardt,", Neural Adaptation to Faces Reveals Racial Outgroup Homogeneity Effects in Early Perception", Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, Vol. 116 Iss. 29, Jul 1 2019.
- ¹⁸⁷ Victoria Burton-Harris and Philip Mayor, "Wrongfully Arrested Because Face Recognition Can't Tell Black People Apart", ACLU, Jun 24 2020. <u>https://www.aclu.org/news/privacy-technology/wrongfully-arrested-because-face-recognition-cant-tell-black-people-apart</u>
- ¹⁸⁸ Jane Gerster and Lauren Pelley, "Mistaken Arrest of Black Teen a Case of Racial Profiling, Family Says", CBC News, Apr 5 2021. <u>https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/black-teenager-racially-profiled-family-says-seeking-answers-1.5975551</u>
- ¹⁸⁹ Daniele Selby, "How Racial Bias Contributes to Wrongful Conviction", The Innocence Project, Jun 17 2021. <u>https://innocenceproject.org/how-racial-bias-contributes-to-wrongful-conviction/</u>
- ¹⁹⁰ John General and Jon Sarlin, "A False Facial Recognition Match Sent This Innocent Black Man To Jail", CNN, Apr 29 2021. <u>https://www.cnn.com/2021/04/29/tech/nijeer-parks-facial-recognition-police-arrest/index.html</u>
- ¹⁹¹ BBC News, "Alabama Police Offer New Explanation for Shooting Wrong Man", Nov 26 2018. <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-us-canada-46350307</u>
- ¹⁹² Nicole Chavez and Tony Marco, "Attorney: Mississippi Man Shot in Back of Head by Police", CNN, Jul 29 2017. <u>https://www.cnn.com/2017/07/29/us/mississippi-man-shot-dead/index.html</u>
- ¹⁹³ O.S. Keyes, "The Misgendering Machines: Trans/HCI Implications of Automatic Gender Recognition", Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction, Vol. 2 No. CSCW Art. 88, Nov 2018. <u>https://ironholds.org/resources/papers/agr_paper.pdf</u>

- ¹⁹⁴ Committee on Gynecologic Practice and Committee on Health Care for Underserved Women, "Health Care for Transgender and Gender Diverse Individuals", American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, Committee, Opinion No. 823, Mar 2021.
- ¹⁹⁵ Caroline Medina, Rhee Santos, Lindsay Mahowald and Sharita Gruberg, "Protecting and Advancing Health Care for Transgender Adult Communities", Center for American Progress, Aug 18 2021. <u>https://www.americanprogress.org/article/protecting-advancing-health-caretransgender-adult-communities/</u>
- ¹⁹⁶ Zaria Gorvett, "Why Transgender People are Ignored by Modern Medicine", BBC Future, Aug 16 2020. <u>https://www.bbc.com/future/article/20200814-why-our-medical-systems-are-ignoring-transgender-people</u>
- ¹⁹⁷ Khushbu Patel, Martha E. Lyon and Hung S. Luu, "Providing Inclusive Care for Transgender Patients: Capturing Sex and Gender in the Electronic Medical Record", The Journal of Applied Laboratory Medicine, Vol. 6 Iss. 1, Dec 17 2020.
- ¹⁹⁸ Aruna Saraswat, Jamie D. Weinand, Joshua D. Safer, "Evidence Supporting the Biologic Nature of Gender Identity", Endocrine Practice, Vol. 25 Iss. 2, Feb 2015.
- ¹⁹⁹ Christiano Lima, "Microsoft won't sell facial recognition to U.S. police until federal standards exist", Politico, Jun 11 2020. <u>https://www.politico.com/news/2020/06/11/microsoft-facial-recognition-police-313611</u>
- ²⁰⁰ Tim Bajarin" Why It Matters That IBM Has Abandoned Its Facial Recognition Technology: Forbes, Jun 18 2020. <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/timbajarin/2020/06/18/why-it-matters-that-ibm-has-abandoned-its-facial-recognition-technology/</u>
- ²⁰¹ <u>https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/pages/deloitte-analytics/solutions/ethics-of-ai-framework.html</u>
- ²⁰² https://www.nttdata.com/global/en/about-us/ai-guidelines
- ²⁰³ Peter Gassmann and Will Jackson-Moore, "The CEO's ESG Dilemma", Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance, Jan 23 2023. <u>https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2023/01/23/the-ceos-esg-dilemma/</u>
- ²⁰⁴ Christina Pazzanese, "Great Promise but Potential for Peril: Ethical concerns mount as AI takes bigger decision-making role in more industries", Harvard Gazette, Oct 26 2020, <u>https://news.harvard.edu/gazette/story/2020/10/ethical-concerns-mount-as-ai-takes-biggerdecision-making-role/</u>
- ²⁰⁵ Jonathan Bartley, Matthew Egol, Josh Goldman, Brian Houck, Paul Leinwand, John Potter, Samrat Sharma and Steven Zhong, "The Future of Consumer Markets", PWC, <u>https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/consumer-markets/future-of-consumer-markets/future-of-consumer-marketsreport-2021.pdf</u>
- ²⁰⁶ DataRobot, "The State of AI in 2019", <u>https://www.datarobot.com/resources/state-ai-bias19/</u>
- ²⁰⁷ "Leadership Imperatives in a World of Escalating Disruption", Seventh Annual Private Equity Leadership Survey, AlixPartners, Mar 2022. https://features.alixpartners.com/private-equity-leadership-survey-2022/
- ²⁰⁸ Larry Fink, "The Power of Capitalism", Letter to CEOs of BlackRock Portfolio Companies, 2022. <u>https://www.blackrock.com/corporate/investor-relations/larry-fink-ceo-letter</u>
- ²⁰⁹ Jessica Hamlin, "Research Shows Increased ESG Disclosures Linked to Stronger PE Fund Performance", PitchBook, Nov 22 2022. https://pitchbook.com/news/articles/private-equity-ESG-fund-performance
- ²¹⁰ John Ninia, "The Impact of ESG and Corporate Culture on Company Performance", Emerging Markets Institute, SC Johnson School of Business, Cornell University, Aug 24 2021.
- ²¹¹ Elisa Jillson, "Aiming for truth, fairness, and equity in your company's use of AI", Federal Trade Commission, Apr 19 2021. https://www.ftc.gov/business-guidance/blog/2021/04/aiming-truth-fairness-equity-your-companys-use-ai
- ²¹² European Commission, "Regulatory Framework Proposal on Artificial Intelligence", 2021. <u>https://digital-</u> <u>strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/policies/regulatory-framework-ai; https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ZaBPsfor_aHKNeeyXxk9uJfTru747EOn/view</u>
- ²¹³ European Commission, "Liability Rules for Artificial Intelligence ",2022. <u>https://commission.europa.eu/business-economy-euro/doing-business-eu/contract-rules/digital-contracts/liability-rules-artificial-intelligence en</u>
- ²¹⁴ Mathew J. Schwartz, "Privacy Fines: GDPR Sanctions Last Year Surged to \$3 Billion", BankInfoSecurity, Information Security Media Group, Jan 17 2023. <u>https://www.bankinfosecurity.com/privacy-fines-gdpr-sanctions-last-year-surged-to-3-billion-a-20950</u>
- ²¹⁵ Federal Trade Commission, "FTC Imposes \$5 Billion Penalty and Sweeping New Privacy Restrictions on Facebook", Jul 24 2019. <u>https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/news/press-releases/2019/07/ftc-imposes-5-billion-penalty-sweeping-new-privacy-restrictions-facebook</u>
- ²¹⁶ Ceri Parker, "What if we get things right? Visions for 2030?", World Economic Forum, Oct 29 2019. <u>https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2019/10/future-predictions-what-if-get-things-right-visions-for-2030/</u>
- ²¹⁷ United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, "The Impact of the Technological Revolution on Labour Markets and Income Distribution", Aug 29 2017.
- ²¹⁸ Bhagwan Chowdhry, "Automation, Not Free Trade, is Bigger Threat to American Jobs", UCLA, May 3 2017. <u>https://newsroom.ucla.edu/stories/ucla-faculty-voice-free-trade-is-not-the-biggest-threat-to-american-workers</u>
- ²¹⁹ Danielle Kurtzleben, "FACT CHECK: Do Robots or Trade Threaten American Workers More?", NPR, Oct 24 2019. <u>https://www.npr.org/2019/10/24/772798717/fact-check-do-robots-or-trade-threaten-american-workers-more</u>
- ²²⁰ Harry Enten, "American Happiness Hits Record Lows", CNN, Feb 2 2022. <u>https://www.cnn.com/2022/02/02/politics/unhappiness-americans-gallup-analysis/</u>
- ²²¹ NORC, University of Chicago, "General Social Survey", Jan 2022. <u>https://gssdataexplorer.norc.org/trends</u>
- ²²² Jeffrey M. Jones, "Confidence in U.S. Institutions Down; Average at New Low", Gallup, Jul 5 2022. <u>https://news.gallup.com/poll/394283/confidence-institutions-down-average-new-low.aspx</u>

- ²²³ Catarina Saraiva, "More Americans Leave the Workforce as Participation Rate Drops Again", Bloomberg, Dec 2 2022. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-12-02/us-jobs-report-shows-more-americans-are-leaving-the-workforce
- ²²⁴ Joseph Marrone and Margaret A. Swarbrick, "The Detrimental Health Impact of Unemployment", Behavioral Health News, Jan 1 2021. <u>https://behavioralhealthnews.org/the-detrimental-health-impact-of-unemployment/</u>
- ²²⁵ Lee Knifton and Greig Inglis, "Poverty and Mental Health: Policy, Practice and Research Implications", British Journal of Psychology Bulletin, Vol. 44 Iss. 5, Aug 3 2020.
- ²²⁶ Sunday Azagba, Lingpeng Shan, Fares Qeadan & Mark Wolfson, "Unemployment Rate, Opioids Misuse and Other Substance Abuse: Quasi-Experimental Evidence from Treatment Admissions Data", BMC Psychiatry, Vol. 21 Art. 22, Jan 10 2021.
- ²²⁷ Rajeev Ramchand, Lynsay Ayer and Stephen O'Connor, "Unemployment, Behavioral Health, And Suicide", HealthAffairs Health Policy Brief, Apr 7 2022. <u>https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hpb20220302.274862/</u>
- ²²⁸ Dan Anderberg, Helmut Rainer, Jonathan Wadsworth and Tanya Wilson, "Unemployment and Domestic Violence: Theory and Evidence". National Criminal Justice Reference Service, US Department of Justice, NCJ No. 243276, Jul 2013. <u>https://docs.iza.org/dp7515.pdf</u>
- ²²⁹ Maximiliano A. Dvorkin and Hannah G. Shell, "The Recent Evolution of U.S. Local Labor Markets", Economic Synopses No. 15, Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, Aug 1 2016. <u>https://research.stlouisfed.org/publications/economic-synopses/2016/08/01/the-recent-evolution-of-u-s-local-labor-markets/</u>
- ²³⁰ Catherine Hakim, "The Social Consequences of High Unemployment", Journal of Social Policy, Vol. 11 Iss. 4, 20 Jan 2009.
- ²³¹ Milena Nikolovaa and Boris N. Nikolaev, Family matters: The effects of parental unemployment in early childhood and adolescence on subjective well-being later in life, Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, Vol. 181, Jan 2021.
- ²³² J.E. Brand, "The Far-Reaching Impact of Job Loss and Unemployment", Annual Review of Sociology, Vol. 41, 2015.
- ²³³ Teemu Vauhkonen, Johanna Kalli, Timo M. Kauppinen, Jani Erolaa, "Intergenerational accumulation of social disadvantages across generations in young adulthood", Research in Social Stratification and Mobility, Vol., 48, Apr 2017.
- ²³⁴ Mark Muro, Jacob Whiton, and Robert Maxim, "Automation and Artificial Intelligence: How machines are affecting people and places", Brookings Institution, Jan 24 2019. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/research/automation-and-artificial-intelligence-how-machines-affect-people-and-places/</u>
- ²³⁵ Mark Muro, Jacob Whiton, and Robert Maxim, "What jobs are affected by AI? Better-paid, Better-educated Workers Face the Most Exposure", Brookings Institution, Nov 20 2019. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/research/what-jobs-are-affected-by-ai-better-paid-better-educated-workers-face-the-most-exposure/</u>
- ²³⁶ Heinz Kurz and Neri Salvadori, "Theory of Production: A Long-Period Analysis", Cambridge University Press, ISBN: 9780521443258, Mar 1995.
- ²³⁷ Bernard C. Beaudreau, "The Trouble with Production Theory", Real-World Economics Review, Iss. 77, 2016.
- ²³⁸ James Manyik, Michael Chui, Anu Madgavkar and Susan Lund, "Technology, Jobs, and the Future of Work", McKinsey Global Institute, May 24 2017. <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/employment-and-growth/technology-jobs-and-the-future-of-work</u>
- ²³⁹ Ashley Nunes, "Automation Doesn't Just Create or Destroy Jobs It Transforms Them", Harvard Business Review, Nov 2 2021. <u>https://hbr.org/2021/11/automation-doesnt-just-create-or-destroy-jobs-it-transforms-them</u>
- ²⁴⁰ Daron Acemoglu and Pascual Restrepo, "Artificial Intelligence, Automation and Work", National Bureau of Economic Research, Working Paper 24196, Jan 6 2018.
- ²⁴¹ David De Cremer and Garry Kasparov, "Al Should Augment Human Intelligence, Not Replace It", Harvard Business Review, Mar 18 2021. <u>https://hbr.org/2021/03/ai-should-augment-human-intelligence-not-replace-it</u>
- 242 H.R.6580 Algorithmic Accountability Act of 2022, Introduced Feb 3 2022. https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/6580
- ²⁴³ ACLU of Washington, "Automated Decision Making Systems Are Making Some of the Most Important Life Decisions For You, but You Might Not Even Know It", Sep 22 2021. <u>https://www.aclu-wa.org/story/automated-decision-making-systems-are-making-some-most-importantlife-decisions-you-you-might</u>
- ²⁴⁴ Cary Coglianese, "Administrative Law in the Automated State", Daedalus, Vol. 150 lss. 3, Sep 2021.
- ²⁴⁵ Jennifer Cobbe, Michelle Seng Ah Lee and Jatinder Singh, "Reviewable Automated Decision-Making: A Framework for Accountable Algorithmic Systems", Compliant and Accountable Systems Research Group, University of Cambridge, Dec 17 2021, Presented at ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency (FAccT '21), Mar 1–10 2021. <u>https://dl.acm.org/doi/pdf/10.1145/3442188.3445921</u>
- ²⁴⁶ Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Current Unemployment Rates for States and Historical Highs/Lows", retrieved Jan 28 2023. <u>https://www.bls.gov/web/laus/lauhsthl.htm</u>
- ²⁴⁷ OECD, "Total Unfilled Job Vacancies for the United States", retrieved from FRED, Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, retrieved Jan 28 2023. <u>https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/LMJVTTUVUSM6475</u>
- ²⁴⁸ Bobby Allyn, "5 Takeaways from the Massive Layoffs Hitting Big Tech Right Now:, NPR, Jan 26 2023. https://www.npr.org/2023/01/26/1150884331/layoffs-tech-meta-microsoft-google-amazon-economy
- ²⁴⁹ Catarina Saraiva, "More Americans Leave the Workforce as Participation Rate Drops Again", Bloomberg, Dec 2 2022. <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-12-02/us-jobs-report-shows-more-americans-are-leaving-the-workforce</u>
- ²⁵⁰ Nathaniel Blake, "The More Americans Decide The System Is Rigged, The More They Will Silently Rebel", The Federalist, Jun 20 2022. <u>https://thefederalist.com/2022/06/20/the-more-americans-decide-the-system-is-rigged-the-more-they-will-silently-rebel/</u>

²⁵¹ Roger Lee, <u>https://layoffs.fyi/</u>, retrieved Sep 5 2023.

- ²⁵² Aki Ito, "Watch your back: Here are the 4 kinds of employees most likely to get laid off in the current downturn", Business Insider, Sep 6 2022. <u>https://www.businessinsider.com/layoffs-employees-most-at-risk-tech-jobs-recession-2022-8</u>
- ²⁵³ Ayan Pramanik, "IT Firms are Hiring Fewer People in Legacy Skills, Demand for Cloud, Data Analytics Rise", Economic Times, Sep 10 2020. <u>https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/tech/ites/it-firms-are-hiring-fewer-people-in-legacy-skills-demand-for-cloud-data-analytics-rise/articleshow/78017996.cms</u>
- ²⁵⁴ William R. Killingsworth, "Saving American Manufacturing: The Fight for Jobs, Opportunity, and National Security", ISBN: 9781606496107, Business Expert Press, 2014.
- ²⁵⁵ Lucas Mearian; "How Many Jobs Are Available in Technology in the US?, Computerworld, Jan 6 2023. https://www.computerworld.com/article/3542681/how-many-jobs-are-available-in-technology.html
- ²⁵⁶ CompTIA, "The Tech Jobs Report", Jan 2023. <u>https://www.comptia.org/docs/default-source/default-document-library/comptia-it-jobs-report.pdf</u>
- ²⁵⁷ Pablo Illanes, Susan Lund, Mona Mourshed, Scott Rutherford and Magnus Tyreman, "Retraining and reskilling workers in the age of automation", McKinsey Global Institute, Jan 22 2018, <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/future-of-work/retraining-andreskilling-workers-in-the-age-of-automation</u>
- ²⁵⁸ Natasha Mascarenhas, "Burned by Layoffs, Tech Workers are Rethinking Risk", TechCrunch, Jan 4 2023. <u>https://techcrunch.com/2023/01/04/burned-by-layoffs-tech-workers-are-rethinking-risk/</u>
- ²⁵⁹ Brian Contreras and Jaimie Ding, "In the Wake of Massive Layoffs, Tech Workers Reconsider their Future", Yahoo!Finance, Jan 24 2023. <u>https://finance.yahoo.com/news/wake-massive-layoffs-tech-workers-130020969.html</u>
- ²⁶⁰ Civil Rights and Labor History Consortium, University of Washington, "America's Great Migrations Project", 2015. <u>https://depts.washington.edu/moving1/</u>
- ²⁶¹ Analysis of U.S. Census Bureau, "Current Population Survey, Annual Social and Economic Supplement" for 1948-2019.
- ²⁶² Kelsey Berkowitz, "Stuck in Place: What Lower Geographic Mobility Means for Economic Opportunity", Third Way, Jan 28 2019. <u>https://www.thirdway.org/report/stuck-in-place-what-lower-geographic-mobility-means-for-economic-opportunity</u>
- ²⁶³ Thomas Cooke, "Why Americans are Staying Put, Instead of Moving to a New City or State", The Conversation, Dec 4 2019. <u>https://theconversation.com/why-americans-are-staying-put-instead-of-moving-to-a-new-city-or-state-127483</u>
- ²⁶⁴ Christopher Mims, "71 Cities and Towns are Paying Tech Workers to Abandon Silicon Valley", The Wall Street Journal, Jul 16 2022. <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/tech-workers-silicon-valley-move-out-11657918928</u>
- ²⁶⁵ Techicago, Chicago H-1B Connect, <u>https://gotechchicago.com/h1b/</u>
- ²⁶⁶ "Tech Layoffs at Meta, Twitter, Amazon: The Good People Helping Indians Find Jobs", BBC News, Dec 7 2022. <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-india-63857202</u>
- ²⁶⁷ American Staffing Association, "Staffing Firms that Hire H-1B Workers Finally Get Some Relief", Jun 24 2020. <u>https://americanstaffing.net/posts/2020/06/24/h-1b-workers-finally-get-some-relief/</u>
- ²⁶⁸ Nate Swanner, "How Major Tech Companies Use Staffing Agencies to Get More H-1B Visa Candidates", Dice, Sep 3 2019. <u>https://www.dice.com/career-advice/h-1b-visa-apple-google-amazon</u>
- ²⁶⁹ Annie Palmer, "Tech Layoffs Send Visa Holders on Frantic Search for Employment to Avoid Deportation", CNBC, Dec 2 2022. <u>https://www.cnbc.com/2022/12/02/tech-layoffs-leave-visa-holders-scrambling-for-jobs-to-remain-in-us.html</u>
- ²⁷⁰ Press Trust of India, "30-40% of Laid Off Techies in the US are Indians, Most on H-1B and L1 Visas", Business Insider India, Jan 23 2023. <u>https://www.businessinsider.in/international/news/30-40-of-laid-off-techies-in-the-us-are-indians-most-on-h-1b-and-l1-visas/articleshow/97245303.cms</u>
- ²⁷¹ Linda Le Phan, "Is Remote Working More Productive? New Findings Give Us An Answer", Ladders, Mar 24 2021. https://www.theladders.com/career-advice/is-remote-working-more-productive-new-findings-give-us-an-answer
- 272 Adam Hickman and Jennifer Robison, "Is Working Remotely Effective? Gallup Research Says Yes", Gallup, Jan 24 2020. https://www.gallup.com/workplace/283985/working-remotely-effective-gallup-research-says-yes.aspx
- ²⁷³ Chandni Kazi and Claire Hastwell, "Remote Work Productivity Study Finds Surprising Reality: 2-Year Analysis", Great Place To Work, Feb 10 2021. <u>https://www.greatplacetowork.com/resources/blog/remote-work-productivity-study-finds-surprising-reality-2-year-study</u>
- ²⁷⁴ Jaime Teevan, "Let's Redefine "Productivity" for the Hybrid Era", Harvard Business Review, Sep 9 2021. <u>https://hbr.org/2021/09/lets-redefine-productivity-for-the-hybrid-era</u>
- ²⁷⁵ Huileng Tan, "Over Two-Thirds of Remote Employees in the US Work 2 Jobs, According to a Survey. Half of Them Say They Are More Productive Than When Working Just One Job.", Business Insider, Nov 2 2021. <u>https://www.businessinsider.com/over-two-thirds-us-remote-workers-two-or-more-jobs-2021-11</u>
- ²⁷⁶ Rachel Feintzeig, "These People Who Work From Home Have a Secret: They Have Two Jobs", Aug 13 2021. <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/these-people-who-work-from-home-have-a-secret-they-have-two-jobs-11628866529</u>
- 277 Bryan Lufkin, "The 'overemployed' workers juggling remote jobs", BBC, Sep 28 2021. <u>https://www.bbc.com/worklife/article/20210927-the-overemployed-workers-juggling-remote-jobs</u>

























